
FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE AGENDA

Thursday, 13 September 2018 at 1.30 pm in the Bridges Room - Civic Centre

From the Chief Executive, Sheena Ramsey
Item Business

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Minutes of last meeting (Pages 3 - 10)

The Committee is asked to approve as a correct record the minutes of the last meeting 
held on 14 June 2018 

3  Review of Obesity (across the life course) - Evidence Gathering (Pages 11 - 
16)

Report of the Director of Public Health.

4  Annual Report on Complaints and Representations - Children (Pages 17 - 
36)

Report of the Strategic Director, Care, Wellbeing & Learning.

5  Ofsted Inspections / School Data - Progress Update (Pages 37 - 40)

Report of the Strategic Director, Care, Wellbeing and Learning.

6  Monitoring Report - OSC Review of Children on the Edge of Care (Pages 41 - 
72)

Report of the Strategic Director Care, Wellbeing and Learning.

7  Work Programme (Pages 73 - 76)

Contact: Melvyn Mallam-Churchill - E-mail melvynmallam-churchill@gateshead.gov.uk,
Date: Wednesday, 5 September 2018

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



GATESHEAD METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING

Thursday, 14 June 2018

PRESENT: Councillor B Oliphant (Chair)

Councillor(s): M Hall, L Caffrey, B Clelland, S Craig, 
A Geddes, E McMaster, R Mullen, S Ronchetti, C Davison, 
D Bradford, P Craig, C McHugh, N Weatherley, C Buckley, 
M Ord and G Haley

CO-OPTED MEMBERS Sasha Ban

F57 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor K McCartney, Councillor R 
Mullen, Councillor R Oxberry and Maveen Pereira.

F58 MINUTES OF LAST MEETING 

The minutes of the last meeting held on 19 April 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record.

F59 CONSTITUTION 

The Committee received the report noting the constitution and membership of the 
Committee for the 2018/19 municipal year.
 
RESOLVED:
 

(i)            The Committee noted the report.

F60 ROLE & REMIT 

The Committee received the report outlining the remit and terms of reference of the 
Committee as agreed by Cabinet and the Council.
 
RESOLVED:
 

(i)            The Committee noted its remit and terms of reference.

F61 THE COUNCIL PLAN - YEAR END ASSESSMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
DELIVERY 2017-18 

The Committee received a report outlining the six-month update of performance and 
delivery for the period October 2017 to March 2018 in relation to the Council Plan 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2015-2020 for the indicators and activity linked to children and young people.
 
It was highlighted from the report that the final year end assessment of performance 
relating to the Council Plan 2015-20 which has been superseded by the Council’s 
new strategic approach of making Gateshead a place where everyone thrives.
 
It was further noted that the corporate performance framework will need to be 
refreshed in light of the Thrive agenda and used to inform the six-month assessment 
of performance for 2018/19.
 
A summary of performance was provided to the Committee highlighting the 
following:
 

·         5 out of 9 updated indicators are showing an improvement under the 
‘LiveWell Gateshead’ outcome, including an increase in the number of eligible 
two year olds accessing their free early learning place, an increase in the 
number of families engaged by the Troubled Families Gateshead programme 
and the number of referrals for young carers, a reduction in the Hospital 
admissions for self-harm rate (10-24 years) and an increase in the proportion 
of care leavers in suitable accommodation and education, training and 
employment.
 

·         10 out 14 updated indicators under the Prosperous Gateshead outcome 
have shown improvement, including an increase in the percentage of children 
offered their preferred secondary school place and increases in the 
percentage of children achieving a good level of development at age 5, those 
achieving the expected standard at Key Stage 1 in writing and maths and 
those achieving the expected standard at the end of Key Stage 2. Progress 8 
scores for pupils at the end of KS4 have increased and the gap between 
attainment 8 and progress 8 scores of disadvantaged pupils/disadvantaged 
peers at KS4 have decreased. The progress 8 scores of vulnerable children 
with special educational needs have increased, and those 16-18 years who 
are NEET have reduced as have the percentage of children in low income 
families.
 

Further summary was provided outlining the numbers of children subject to a child 
protection plan in addition to those leaving care with a safe and sustainable place to 
live.
 
The Committee were updated on the implementation of new Rapid Response and 
Child with Complex Needs teams within Children and Families Social Care. This 
included:
 

·         The recruitment of a Senior Practice Supervisor, a Practice Supervisor, 6 
Complex Child in Need social workers, 2 Rapid response workers, a Family 
Group Conference Worker and 2 family Advocates.

·         The criteria and referral procedures have been written and shared with 
social workers in Referral & Assessment and Safeguarding Care Planning.

·         Briefing sessions with Looked after Children services, Early Help teams, 
Paediatrics, Platform, Local Authority Education services, Public Health, 

Page 4



Young Peoples Service (CYPS) and Schools.
 
A comment was made that the report was good but that a further breakdown of the 
details within the appendix would have been appreciated. A further comment was 
made noting that where improvements have been highlighted in the report these are 
small which is disappointing. 
 
Clarity was sought on the hospital admissions figures presented – it was asked 
whether the figures presented had been merged with Newcastle admission 
numbers, this information as not available for the Committee and will be brought 
back for the next meeting.
 
It was asked what work is being done to reduce the number of expectant mothers 
from smoking. It was said that this is a complex problem to tackle despite efforts 
from projects such as the Baby Clear programme. It was further noted that a case 
will be presented to the QE Hospital to encourage them to have an in-house stop 
smoking service. A comment that it should be a safeguarding issue if pregnant 
women smoke was made noting the duty of care midwives have and they should be 
empowered to act in such instances.
 
It was asked what the plans are for the work at Grove House. It was noted that a 
work plan is in place and is ongoing.
 
The closure of Thomas Hepburn was noted, the Committee were advised it was not 
a Council decision for the school to close and that the school admissions service are 
working hard to ensure all children affected are offered a school place elsewhere.
 
Of those leaving care it was noted that 71% are still supported by the Council up to 
the age of 25. It was asked what has happened to those who are not engaging with 
services. The Committee were advised that 100% of care leavers are contacted 
however those with more complex needs are difficult to keep in touch with, 
particularly up to the age of 25. 
 
It was asked whether schools converting to academies was responsible for the small 
decline in attainment for the disadvantaged. The Committee were advised that this is 
a difficult question to answer. It was further noted that the DfE are more inclined to 
influence children down an academic route which is not appropriate for all and that 
this may have contributed to the decline.
 
RESOLVED:
 

(i)            The Committee noted and agreed the report and appendix.

 

F62 REVIEW OF OBESITY (ACROSS THE LIFE COURSE) - SCOPING REPORT 

The Committee received a report outlining the proposed scope of the review of 
obesity and the process for taking it forward.
 

Page 5



It was noted from the report that obesity is one of the most serious public health 
challenges of the 21st Century. It was further noted that almost three in four adults in 
the UK will be overweight or obese by 2035 which over the next twenty years could 
lead to an additional 4.62 million cases of type 2 diabetes, 1.63 million cases if 
coronary heart disease and 670,000 cases if cancer.
 
The effect on public spending was highlighted noting that the cost of obesity on the 
economy is huge. The Gateshead Vision 2030 6 big ideas were highlighted noting 
that the plan sets out how Gateshead will be a healthy, inclusive and nurturing place 
for all. It was further noted that the Gateshead Health and Wellbeing Board have 
undertaken the task to reduce excess weight in children.
 
A further summary of the scope of the review was provided which also outlined the 
following points:
 
 By 2050, modelling indicates that 60% of adult men, 50% of adult women could 

be obese. Current data shows that 69.4% of adults in Gateshead have excess 
weight. This is significantly worse than the England average of 64.8%. Almost 
two in every three adults in Gateshead has excess weight and around one in four 
are obese. The emerging picture for our children in Gateshead is not positive. 
Reception children in Gateshead have some of the lowest prevalence rates of 
excess weight (overweight and obese 22%) in the North East, however by the 
time children reach Year 6, Gateshead has one of the highest rates of excess 
weight levels in the North East (35.5%). 

 The evidence base suggests that in order to tackle obesity effectively we need an 
approach that involves the whole system, with action at an individual, 
environmental and societal level. This approach needs to create a culture where 
healthy weight is the default for everyone in Gateshead. 

 The scope of the review includes consideration of factors influencing obesity that 
can be tackled by joint working across working a number of areas including, 
planning, transport, housing, business, education and health. With local authority 
responsibilities in health, planning, highways, transport, education, culture, 
housing, employment, social care and their relationships with businesses they 
are in a uniquely influential position to bring about transformational change in the 
way that obesity is tackled. 

 Successfully tackling obesity is a long term, large scale commitment. The current 
prevalence of obesity in the population has been at least 30 years in the making. 
This will take time to reverse and it is reported that it will at least 30 years before 
reductions in the associated diseases are seen. The evidence is very clear that 
policies aimed solely at individuals will be inadequate and will not be sufficient to 
reverse this trend. Significant effective action to prevent obesity at a population 
level is required.

 
It was outlined that the process and timescale for the review is proposed to take 
place over an 11-month period from 14 June 2018 to 4 April 2018. The Committee 
were also advised that it is proposed the first evidence gathering session will provide 
a detailed overview of the status for Gateshead in terms of excess weight across the 
life course and the current evidence base regarding a whole systems approach to 

Page 6



tackle this complex area.

A concern about the quality and nutritional value of food available from foodbanks 
was raised – it was noted that foodbanks rely on non-perishable items such as 
tinned goods to ensure they can be in storage for longer periods of time. It was 
however noted that there are ‘fair share’ markets in the borough offering fresh 
produce at a price the customer can afford. Following this it was noted that work is 
being done by the Gateshead Health & Wellbeing Board to understand the link 
between poverty and obesity.

A point was raised to consider whether schools are doing enough to provide food 
education. It was noted that the former Health Schools Award which was a funded 
programme is no longer financed. Further comment was made that schools have 
difficulty spending sports premium funding due to rules being so prescriptive.

A point was raised regarding the advertising of fast food takeaways on billboards 
and television does not help the issue of obesity and that planning rules are not strict 
enough to prevent café’s operating as a takeaway without appropriate consent.

RESOLVED:
(i)       The Committee noted the scope, process and timescales outlined in the 

report.

F63 HOW ADULT AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES ARE WORKING TOGETHER - 
PROGRESS UPDATE 

The Committee received the report outlining examples of how well Adults and 
Children’s Services are working together.
 
It was noted from the report that Care, Wellbeing and Learning (CWL) is made up of 
five areas – adult social care, learning and schools, early help, commissioning and 
quality assurance and children and families. It was further highlighted from the report 
that there are interdependencies between the Service and each Director responsible 
for the Service is part of the Management Group which is chaired by the Strategic 
Director. It was also noted that the Director of Public Health 
 
From the report the Committee received a summary of further examples of 
collaborative working which included examples from the following:
 
 Transitions and Children’s Services

 Case transfers/allocations

 Transitions and Early Intervention/Prevention

 Transitions and Special Schools

 Work experience – Children and Adult Services

Page 7



 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Adult Social Care 
(ASC)

 Learning and Skills and Adult Social Care

 ASC Provider Services and Children’s Services

 Adult Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and Children’s Services
 
Areas for development were highlighted as follows:
 
 The review of the Domestic Abuse Service will bring together Children and Adults 

Services across the Council into one co-ordinated unit.

 The Domestic Abuse Service will work with Adults and Children through a holistic 
model of support.

 The work between Transitions and Children’s Services can be strengthened to 
enable a seamless service and effective transition as our children with SEND and 
disabilities move into adulthood.  A review of SEND and Disabled Children Team 
(DCT) is being undertaken to look at systems, processes and procedures.

 Children and Adults Services are committed to ensuring that support for 
vulnerable children and adults is given in a co-ordinated way and that process or 
systems does not allow for anyone ‘to slip through the net’.

 An ICT review and replacement programme will allow for integrated IT data and 
processes across Children and Adults Services.

 Early Help model is fluid and flexible and can be transferred and used across 
Children and Adults Services. Phase two of the model will concentrate on how 
the continuum of need across both services can be seamless.

 
It was confirmed that an update on the work being done to tackle Domestic Abuse 
will come back to the Committee at the October 2018 meeting.
 
A concern was raised that due to the large size of the service some teams would 
become sectoral. It was confirmed that many areas within the service are discreet in 
terms of budgets but that great progress has been made since 2014 to improve 
communications including the introduction of group management meetings.
 
It was asked whether any departments within the service were stretched too thin. It 
was noted that all departments are facing resourcing issues however all share in a 
culture of open communication and problem sharing. It was further noted that more 
resource is required in quality assurance/performance management but work is 
being done to ensure that performance remains at a good standard.
 
RESOLVED:

(i)            The Committee noted the contents of the report.

Page 8



F64 OFSTED INSPECTION - OUTCOME AND NEXT STEPS 

The Committee received a summary of the report to provide information on the 
outcome of the focussed visit carried out by Ofsted as part of the new ILAC 
(Inspections of Local Authority Children’s Services)
 
It was highlighted from the report that the inspectors noted the Council and senior 
leaders have embraced the role of corporate parents. It was also acknowledged that 
the local authority has a commitment to continuous improvement of the service 
however the strategic ambition is not fully realised in all aspects of operational 
practise.
 
It was further noted from the report that the inspectors highlighted two areas where 
the Council has developed strong practise improving outcomes for young people via 
an impressive range of creative initiatives to support young people into education, 
employment and training in addition to an accommodation offer.
 
Areas for improvement were also identified during the visit, the following points were 
highlighted from the report:
 
·      Most pathway plans written by personal advisers could be better.  Plans need to 

be strengthened to be outcome focused, evidence that the young person is an 
active participant, better consider diverse needs and identity, and to have a 
meaningful contingency if things go wrong.

 
·      The quality of case management oversight of pathway planning, written plans, 

and reviewing processes needs to be improved.  Managers should ensure that 
supervision supports personal advisers to maintain a focus on being appropriately 
ambitious for young people.

 
·      Auditing practice in the care leaver’s service needs to be strengthened as a tool 

for monitoring quality of practice, rather than compliance and to feed into service 
development and forward planning.  

 
The Committee were also made aware of the action plan that has been implemented 
and progress made throughout the service. It was noted that progress will continue 
to be monitored by the Quality Improvement Board and the Corporate Parenting 
OSC.
 
It was further noted that the Children Living in Care and Care Leavers Strategy 
reports will be going to Cabinet in June in addition to being looked at by the Health & 
Wellbeing Board.
 
It was asked why areas for improvement identified in 2015 were not picked up 
sooner. It was said that many of the issues highlighted have been addressed 
however there has been difficulty finding the correct standard of completing 
necessary paperwork.
 
It was agreed that an update report on this issue would be slotted in to the Work 

Page 9



Programme.
 
RESOLVED:

(i)            The Committee noted the contents of the report.
(ii)           The Committee agreed to receive a further update on the action plan 

following the inspection at a later meeting.

F65 WORK PROGRAMME 

The Committee received the Work Programme report which sets out the provisional 
programme for this Committee for the municipal year 2018/19.
 
RESOLVED:

(i)            The Committee noted the contents of the Work Programme report.

Chair……….………………..

Page 10



FAMILIES
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
 13 September 2018                  

TITLE OF REPORT:         Review of Obesity (across the life course)
          

REPORT OF:           Director of Public Health

_________________________________________________________________
SUMMARY

This report gives details of the evidence gathering session that will take place on 
13th September 2018. The views of the Committee are being sought on the 
evidence presented and the future plans outlined.
__________________________________________________________________

Background

Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee have agreed that the focus of its review in 
2018-9 will be obesity across the life course.

The review will help the Committee to consider and understand the complexity of the 
obesity agenda. A simple and frequent stance is to focus on individual lifestyle choice, 
but this is only one small part of the picture. In fact, the Foresight obesity report (2007) 
identified over 100 factors that contribute to the prevalence of obesity. These can be 
broadly clustered into groups of influences including societal, media related, food 
industry, biological, environmental and psychological factors. 

The causes of obesity are indeed complex and it is important to strive for a balanced 
perspective about the roles of the individual and the environment and influences to 
which they are exposed. The result of these exposures will be further influenced by a 
person’s education, occupation, income, living conditions, and family and community 
networks. 

There is no simple solution and an approach that involves the ‘whole system’, with 
action at an individual, environmental and societal level will be explored further with 
the Committee

The Committee will also consider the current evidence base as part of a ‘whole system 
approach’ including a focus on legislation, regulations, advertising control and taxation 
measures in tackling and reducing obesity, with a view to agreeing a set of 
recommendations for Gateshead.

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



Purpose of this session
The scoping report agreed by OSC on 14th June 2017 described the complexity of the 
obesity agenda and that 

 The evidence base suggests that in order to tackle obesity effectively we need 
an approach that involves the whole system.

 Consideration of factors influencing obesity that can be tackled by joint working 
across working a number of areas need to be part of the solution, the local 
authority is uniquely positioned to take this forward.

 Successfully tackling obesity is a long term, large scale commitment. The 
current prevalence of obesity in the population has been at least 30 years in the 
making. This will take time to reverse and it is reported that it will at least 30 
years before reductions in the associated diseases are seen.

 The evidence is very clear that policies aimed solely at individuals will be 
inadequate and will not be sufficient to reverse this trend. Significant effective 
action to prevent obesity at a population level is required.

This first evidence gathering session will hear a presentation of fifteen minutes from:

 Andy Graham, Consultant in Public Health, Gateshead Council

 Emma Gibson, Programme Lead in Public Health, Gateshead Council

The presenters will provide an overview of the current picture for Gateshead in terms 
of what the local data is telling us about the size of the problem for both children and 
adults who are classed as overweight and obese. An overview of the evidence base 
and emerging areas of interest in terms of a ‘whole system obesity approach’ will be 
presented and the proposed outline for future evidence gathering sessions and 
speakers outlined.

Issues to Consider

When considering the evidence outlined above the Committee may wish to consider 
the following:

 Maternal obesity is linked to an increased risk of pregnancy related 
complications and children becoming obese in later life.

 69.0% of adults in Gateshead have excess weight (overweight and obese). This 
is significantly worse than the England and regional average. Almost two in 
every three adults in Gateshead has excess weight and around one in four are 
obese.

Page 12



 Obesity rates are highest for children from the most deprived areas. Children 
aged 5 and from the poorest income groups are twice as likely to be obese 
compared to their most well-off counterparts and by the age of 11 they are three 
times as likely.

 Of those children who are obese at preschool age, research suggests that 
between 26% and 41% will go on to be obese in adulthood.

 Sectors of the population are at considerably higher risk of becoming obese.
 Gateshead has the fifth highest rate of fast food outlets per 100 000 population 

in the North East (160.5 per 100,000), and is above the England value.

 NHS costs attributed to overweight and obesity in Gateshead are estimated to 
be £68.7 million per annum for 2015 (underestimation).

 The evidence base on effective action to tackle obesity remains weak, and 
skewed towards individual level downstream approaches (trying to manage the 
consequences of obesity rather than more upstream approaches, which 
attempt to solve the real problems underpinning obesity).

 Currently there are very few examples around the world of successfully 
reversing the trend of ‘obesity’ despite over a decade of intervention. Work is 
emerging from Amsterdam in terms of a wide-reaching programme which is 
getting results. Please see the full report at https://www.ucl.ac.uk/obesity-
policy-research-unit/sites/obesity-policy-research-unit/files/what-learned-from-
amsterdam-healthy-weight-programme-inform-policy-response-obesity-
england.pdf

Challenges and Opportunities 

Challenges
Long term sustained approach
Just as obesity develops slowly, both within individuals and populations, it will take 
time to establish new habits and build new structures to support healthy diets and 
enhanced physical activity. This also implies the need for long-term strategies 
spanning several generations and beyond traditional planning cycles. Longer term 
commitment is needed and lessons learned from tackling smoking behaviours is that 
it takes longer than 5 years of the impact of public health work to come to fruition.

Complex Problem. Obesity is a complex issue with many drivers, meaning efforts at 
prevention are particularly challenging. According to the UK national obesity strategy, 
long term sustainable change will only be achieved through the active engagement of 
schools, communities, families and individuals with action required across 
government, industry and the Public Sector. 

Weight bias and stigma. Considerable work is still required to re-frame the focus on 
healthy weight, to move away from the continued focus on personal shortcomings, 
individual blame and individual behaviour change interventions. There is extensive 

Page 13



research highlighting the bias and stigma and personal blame, people who are 
overweight and obese may experience. A recognition of the role and impact of societal 
changes needs to be acknowledged. 

It is important to note the impacts of societal changes. People in the UK and Gates-
head don’t have less willpower and are not more gluttonous than previous generations. 
Nor are people’s biology significantly different. Society, however, has radically altered 
over the past five decades, with major changes in work patterns, transport, food 
production and food sales which has impacted on individual’s weight.
.
How do we challenge the Food Industry? The obesogenic environment is powered 
by widespread availability and the food industry’s multi-million pound promotion of high 
fat, high sugar and high salt food and drinks. How do we challenge and influence the 
Food Industry to make a sustained change?

Opportunities

Leadership Role. The leadership role of local authorities in developing a workable 
whole systems approach is crucial. Local Authorities with their responsibilities in 
health, planning, highways, transport, education, culture, housing, employment, social 
care and their relationships with businesses of all sizes, are in a uniquely influential 
position to bring about transformational change in the way that obesity is tackled. 

A system-wide approach, redefining healthy weight as a societal and economic
issue. Determinants that contribute to obesity are both diverse and far-reaching in their 
effects. Action is needed to reshape not only the physical and dietary aspects of the 
environment but also the social, economic and cultural environments.

Community focused led interventions in tackling obesity as part of a of placed-
based, approach. Local initiatives to promote the healthy weight agenda and address 
obesity across the whole system, which are driven by the community.  Promoting such 
an approach requires a commitment to "step back" and allow the community to lead 
whilst changing behaviour at the community level and creating cultures of participation.

Population Approach. The evidence is very clear that policies aimed solely at 
individuals will be inadequate and that simply increasing the number or type of small 
scale interventions will not be sufficient to reverse this trend. Significant effective 
action to prevent obesity at a population level is required

Recommendation

Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to agree:

Page 14



 The approach and content as set out in this report and presentation.

Contact: Alice Wiseman Ext: 2777

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



TITLE OF REPORT: Children and Families Service - Annual Report on Services 
Complaints, Compliments and Representations - April 2017 to 
March 2018

REPORT OF: Caroline O’Neill, Strategic Director, Care, Wellbeing & Learning

Summary

Cabinet considered the attached report on 17 July 2018.

Cabinet approved the referral of the report to a meeting of the Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in line with procedure. 

It is a statutory requirement that the report is considered by a formal committee to ensure the 
Council has an effective complaints procedure that follows the legislation set out in The 
Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006.

Background

1. The Health & Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003 requires that 
Councils with Social Services responsibilities produce an Annual Report of their 
Statutory Children’s Services Complaints Procedure.  This annual report sets out 
details of the complaints and representations made during the period April 2017 – 
March 2018.

2. Information contained in the report provides a summary of the statistical information 
together with a review of the effectiveness of the procedure.  Some examples of 
service improvement are also included together with details of future objectives. 

Annual Report Complaints and Representations

3. The report is consistent with the Sustainable Community Strategy – Vision 2030 and 
the Council’s Corporate Plan. The report supports the Corporate Priority for serving 
our customers by continuously improving services and targeting areas of under 
achievement.

4. The Annual Report is specifically about Children Act 1989 Statutory Complaints for 
Children’s Social Care Services, with information on complaint related queries and 
compliments that are received about staff or services.  The report covers the period 
from 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018. 

FAMILIES
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

  Date: 13 September 2018

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



Operation of the Procedure

5. The procedure has three stages:
 Stage 1 Local Resolution – response within 10 working days.  The timescale 

can be extended to 20 working days if the complainant agrees to this extension.
 Stage 2 Investigation – formal response within 25 calendar days.  Extensions to 

this must be negotiated with the complainant.  Maximum is 65 working days.
 Stage 3 Independent Review – Panel consisting of Independent Chair and 

Independent Panel members who consider the complaint.  Full response by 
Director of Social Services within 20 working days.

Statistical Analysis

6. In 2017/18 the number of complaints and representations dealt with was as follows:
 Forty nine statutory complaints were dealt with at Stage 1 
 Two complaints were investigated at Stage 2 of the Procedure. 
 There were no Stage 3 Independent Review Panels held during 2017/18.
 There was a 53% increase in formal complaints received. (49), compared with 

the number received during 2016/17, (32).
 Complaint related queries (CRQ) require either advice or problem solving by 

either a Complaints Officer or by a Team Manager.  32% (35) of all formal 
concerns were CRQs.  This evidences that the Services are responsive in 
ensuring low level issues are dealt with swiftly and resolved to the complainant’s 
satisfaction.  

 During 2017/18, 48% of all Children’s Services contacts were compliments.
 The number of representations received also increased by 20% (176 to 212).

  
Points of Interest

7. The following key points may be of interest:

 Almost 47% (23) of complaints were regarding the Safeguarding, Care Planning 
Teams.  

 24% (12) of complaints were about the Referral and Assessment Team. 
 Four complaints were received directly from looked after children.
 One complaint was from a previously looked after young person.   
 As in previous years, the main themes of concern raised within complaints were 

either regarding the quality of the support provided by either the individual worker 
or by the service or about the quality of communication from workers or services.  

 Compliments increased by 16% during 2017/18, (102 from 88).
 31%, (23) of all compliments received about Children’s Social Work were about 

the Safeguarding and Care Planning Teams. 

Learning from complaints and representations: 

8. Learning from complaints is critical to prevent recurrence of the cause(s) of the original 
complaint.  It is important that we make sure that people’s experiences help us to 

Page 18



improve services where we can. Changes can include policy, procedure or employee 
development.

Examples of Service Improvements identified during 2017/18:

 A Review of the internal procedures for the Safeguarding Children Unit (SCU) 
has taken place.  The procedure now instructs Senior Safeguarding Clerks to 
verify information shared within child protection conferences in respect of family 
members before it is recorded within child protection minutes. 

 Procedures have been reviewed by the Adoption Team, which will ensure that as 
soon as information is known about a birth family member’s death that it is 
shared with adoptive parents.  This will be done initially by telephone and if no 
reply is gained then a home visit will be made.

 The processes and procedures within the Disabled Children’s Team have been 
reviewed to ensure they provide an efficient, effective and children focused 
service. The service is to develop a clear Appeals Process and ensure that this 
is included within the Disabled Children’s Team Panel Terms of Reference. 

 That when potentially distressing information needs to be shared with family 
members, consideration should be taken by the worker to ascertain the best way 
to share this with them.  Unplanned telephone calls should be avoided and 
consideration given to meeting with the family member to share the information 
in person where possible.  

Future Objectives

9. Objectives for 2018/19 are to:
a. Continue to meet regularly with Senior Managers from Children’s Services to 

consider what further action needs to be taken to;
i. Resolve complaints at the earliest opportunity.
ii. Improve the number of complaints being investigated and resolved within 

statutory timescales. 
iii. Ensure that the number of complaints progressing to Stage 2 and 3 remain 

low.

b. To assist the Children’s Rights Officer in contacting all children who are currently 
being looked after by Gateshead Council, to gain their views and comments on 
the services they receive.  All responses will be evaluated and appropriate action 
will be taken to resolve any concerns or queries.  These views will also contribute 
to future service planning and delivery within Care, Wellbeing & Learning. 

c. Ensure that staff members who receive compliments continue to pass the details 
on to Social Care Customer Services so that they or their team receive the 
recognition they deserve.

Recommendation

10. Committee is requested to:
I. Consider and comment on the annual report;

Page 19



II. Indicate whether it is satisfied with the performance of Care, Wellbeing and 
Learning in responding to complaints and ensuring that this results in 
continuous service improvement.

Contact Officer: Alison Routledge, X2408

Page 20



TITLE: Children and Families Service - Annual Report on Services 
Complaints, Compliments and Representations – 1 April 2017 to 31 
March 2018

REPORT OF: Alison Routledge, Complaints Manager  

SERVICE: Commissioning and Quality Assurance. Care, Wellbeing and 
Learning

___________________________________________________________________
SUMMARY 

The Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 sets 
out the procedure that Local Authorities have a responsibility to follow when a 
complaint is made about Children’s Social Services. Regulation 13 (3) of this Act 
states that all local authorities must publish an Annual Report each financial year to 
identify the number, detail and outcomes to all complaints received.  The information 
within this Annual Report fulfils Gateshead Council’s obligations under this regulation 
and covers the period from 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018.
___________________________________________________________________
_______

1.0 The Statutory Complaints Procedure

1.1 This procedure is for all representations received from children and young 
people, their parents, foster carers or other qualifying adults about 
Gateshead Council’s Children’s Services.

1.2 There are three stages to the procedure:  

Stage 1 - Local Resolution
Stage 1 complaints are investigated by operational managers. Complaints at 
this level are expected to be concluded within ten working days, with an 
extension of further ten working days, (with the agreement of the 
complainant), if necessary.  The maximum time for a Stage 1 investigation is 
twenty working days.  

StageStage  22  ––  InvestigationInvestigation
Investigations at Stage 2 are conducted at arm’s length to the operational 
service complained about, with full and formal reporting to the complainant 
by an Adjudicating Officer, (usually at Service Director level), within twenty-
five working days, with extension up to sixty five working days if necessary. 

Page 21



2

StageStage  33  ––  ReviewReview  PanelPanel
If there is any residual dissatisfaction with the outcome at Stage 2, the 
complainant can request that the issues are taken to a Review Panel, (Stage 
3).  A Stage 3 Review Panel must be requested within twenty working days 
of receipt of the Stage 2 investigation findings.  A Stage 3 Review Panel is 
the final stage of the statutory complaints procedure.

2.0 Publicity and Information 

2.1 Information about the complaints procedure can be made available in key 
languages and formats.  Requests for information in these formats or from 
customers with sight or hearing impairment are provided via the Council’s 
Communication Team.  

2.2 There is also a leaflet for children and young people receiving a service.  
This leaflet was designed with help from the children and young people from 
One Voice, the Children and the Young People’s Forum.  The leaflet 
includes a pre-paid slip that can be completed and posted back free of 
charge.  

click here to access complaints website

2.3 When young people are admitted into Local Authority care, part of the 20-
day review requirements state that they are to be visited by the Council’s 
Children’s Rights Officer.  The young person also receives a ‘Welcome’ 
pack’, which includes information, leaflets and other guidance on how to 
make a complaint.  

2.4 Children and young people are now able to use their smartphones or tablet 
computers to contact the services via Mind of My Own, (MoMo).  MoMo is an 
app which allows the child or young person to comment on their service and 
if necessary, to raise dissatisfaction.    

2.5 The Children’s Rights Officer, Independent Visitors and Independent 
Reviewing Officers are important links between the child and the Complaints 
Manager and ensure that any issues of dissatisfaction are resolved at the 
earliest opportunity.  

3.0 Advocacy and Special Needs 

3.1 The purpose of advocacy in complaints procedures is to ensure that children 
and young people are given assistance when making or intending to make a 
complaint. Advocacy is about empowering children and young people to 
make sure that their rights are respected and that their views and wishes are 
fully considered and reflected in decision-making about their own lives.  It is 
a legal requirement that any child or young person wishing to make a 
complaint must always be offered the services of an advocate.  

Page 22

https://www.gateshead.gov.uk/article/3647/Tell-us-your-views


3

4.0 The Independent Element 

4.1 Under the complaints procedure, there is a requirement to provide 
Independent Persons for all Stage 2 complaints.  There is currently a 
consortium arrangement with South Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council 
and Sunderland City Council, which provides Independent People for 
Children Act 1989 complaints.  There is also a requirement to ensure that 
Stage 3 Review Panels consist of three members who are fully independent 
of the Council.

5.0 Training and Employee Development 

5.1 Training for Investigating Officers is undertaken on an annual basis.  All 
investigating skills training courses are commissioned from the Local 
Government Ombudsman, (LGO).  This ensures that investigating officers 
are trained to the Ombudsman’s investigation standard with the focus being 
on swift resolution, proportionate investigations and appropriate redress.  To 
ensure that all new managers within Children’s Services are fully able to 
investigate complaints, a LGO Investigating Skills Training Course took 
place in April 2017.  15 managers from across Children’s Services and 
Children’s Support Services attended the training.  

5.2 The training was very successful and as such another training course will be 
arranged for October 2018.  This training will ensure that all new managers 
within Children’s Services are equipped with the skills to investigate and 
respond effectively to complaints at Stage 1 and Stage 2 of the statutory 
complaints procedure.  

6.0 Complaint Recording & Resolution in Children’s Residential 
Facilities

6.1 All children’s residential homes have their own “in-house” complaints 
process to resolve low level concerns.  Residential staff work with the young 
person and allow them to identify themselves how their issues can be 
resolved to their satisfaction. Information about low level concerns is 
retained within the facility and is available in the event of OFSTED 
inspections.  

7.0 Equalities Monitoring
7.1 Gateshead Council recognises that equality monitoring of service delivery is 

crucial for effective planning and scrutiny of the services that it provides.  
This monitoring can identify which groups are using services and gauge their 
level of satisfaction.  The information can then be used to highlight possible 
inequalities, investigate their underlying causes and address any unfairness 
or disadvantage.

7.2 Information about the complaints procedure can be made available in key 
languages and formats.  Information for customers with sight or hearing 
impairment can also be provided.  

Page 23



4

8.0 All Representations Received over the Past Three Years
 All Representations 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018
Stage 1 Complaints 37 32 49
Stage 2 Complaints 5 1 2
Stage 3 - Review Panels 1 4 0
Comments Na Na 2
Corporate Complaints 4 5 7
Complaint related queries 56 38 35
Data Issues / Breach 2 1 10
Insurance Claims N/A 2 2
LGO Investigation 4 1 2
LSCB CP Unit N/A 3 0
MP Referral N/A 1 1
Compliments 77 88 102
Total 186 176 212
Trend % -5% -5.38 +20.45%

8.1 A Representation is any formal comment made about Children’s 
Services.  

8.2 Representations may be general, dissatisfaction or complimentary but all are 
regarding the quality of the services that have been received. 

8.3 The table and graph on page 3 shows the 20% increase in representations 
received during 2017/18. 

8.4 The number of formal complaints received increased by 53% since 2016/17

8.5 However, as representations also include compliments, the rise in the number 
of representations received during 2017/18 is, in part, due to the increase in the 
number of compliments received about the quality of the services or individual 
staff within Children’s Services.  

9.0 Stage one complaints

Stage 1
trend

2006
2007

2007 
2008

2008 
2009

2009 
2010

2010 
2011

2011 
2012

2012 
2013

2013 
2014

2014 
2015

2015 
2016

2016 
2017

2017 
2018

22 32 18 10 19 29 36 34 45 37 32 49
% 45 -44 -44 90 53 24 -6 32 -18 -14 53

186 176
212

0

100

200

300

2015 2016 2016 2017 2017 2018

Page 24



5

9.1 Key Points of Interest

 The number of formal contacts received, which include compliments, 
regarding Children’s Services increased by 20% compared with the 
number of contacts received during 2016/17.   

 During 2017/18, 48% of all Children’s Services contacts were 
compliments. 

 Forty nine Stage 1 complaints were received regarding Children’s 
Services.  This is a 53% increase on complaints received during 2016/17, 
(32). 

 The number of complaints, (49), represents 23% of all formal contacts 
received about Children’s Services during 2017/18, (212).

 Stage 1 Complaints increased by 53% since 2016/17.
 The number of complaint related queries (low level issues not requiring a 

written response), received decreased by 8% (35) compared to the 
number received during 2016/17 (38).  

 The decrease in complaint related queries may partly be responsible for 
the increase in formal complaints received, with complainants now 
preferring a written response to their concerns.  

 23% (8) of the complaint related queries received were regarding the 
quality of the social work support offered to families of children receiving a 
service and 14% (5) were disputes to information within social work 
reports.

 As in previous years, the main theme of concern raised within complaint 
related queries was about the quality of the support provided by either the 
individual worker or by the service.  

 All of the low level issues received were dealt with directly by either the 
team manager of the service complained about or by the Complaints 
Section after prior discussion with the worker concerned.  

9.2 Key Themes of Complaint 

9.2.1 After full consideration of all Stage 1 complaints received during 2017/18, 
two key themes of dissatisfaction have been identified. 

1. Quality of Service - Quality of Worker Support / Involvement 

Quality of services provided continues to attract the largest number of 
complaints.  Complaints about quality cover a number of areas and can range 
from low level disputes to significant concerns about the actions or decisions 
of the services involved.  

During 2017/18, 73% (36) complaints received were regarding quality issues, 
with 41% of the complaints citing the support provided by the social worker or 
service as their main concern.  

After further analysis of the complaints received, it was again found that 
families of children receiving a service may often misinterpret the reasons for 

Page 25



6

the social work involvement and can, in some cases, assume that the social 
worker is allocated to address their own personal needs rather than the needs 
of the child.  Social workers are always mindful of the requirement to consider 
the whole family unit whilst undertaking assessments or providing services, 
but their main concern should always remain the wellbeing of the child or 
children concerned.  

Following investigation, only one of the complaints received regarding social 
work support was justified.  Five complaints were found to be partially 
justified, but the findings from fourteen complaints evidenced that the issues 
raised had been completely unjustified.  

2. Quality of Service – Communication Issues 

Effective and timely communication is key to maintaining relationships with 
parents or carers as this often encourages families to work with the social 
worker and with any plans or assessments that are developed.  Good 
communication can also help to resolve any minor issues that may arise at 
the time, which then averts the need to invoke the formal complaints 
procedure.  

During 2017/18, 20% (10) of all complaints received cited lack of or poor 
communication from either the social worker or the service involved.  
However, after investigations were carried out, only 30% (3) of complaints 
were found to be fully justified.   

It is understandable that families who are involved with Children’s Services 
may wish for ongoing and regular communication with the worker concerned 
as they are often anxious about what actions may be taken.  However, the 
level of communication that is often requested by various family members 
may not be sustainable and workers can struggle with continuous requests for 
information regarding the child / children’s case.  Despite this, workers should, 
where possible, continue to provide updates for significant family members as 
this can often alleviate some of the stress that the families may be feeling.  

To ensure that workers are reminded of the need for effective and timely 
communication, team managers should regularly raise this matter within their 
own team meetings and with individual staff members. Team managers 
should also reiterate the importance of dealing with significant family 
members only and not with those who do not have a right to the child / 
children’s personal information.  

When dealing with families who are difficult to contact, team managers will 
also remind their staff to consider alternative means of contact, such as text 
messaging or emails.  Workers should always check whether the family 
member concerned has any specific sensory needs which may inhibit 
communication.  

Page 26



7

9.3 Specific Areas of Complaint

Service Area 2015 2016 2016 2017 2017 2018
Children with Disabilities 6.67% 3 0.00% 0 10.20% 5
Looked After Children Team 13.33% 6 18.75% 6 8.16% 4
Family Group Conference 0% 0 3.13% 1 0% 0
Fostering & Adoption 0% 0 6.25% 2 8.16% 4
Out of Hours Duty Team 2.22% 1 0.00% 0 0.00% 0
Referral & Assessment 13.33% 6 18.75% 6 24.49% 12
Safeguarding, Care Planning 44.44% 20 53.13% 17 46.94% 23
Safeguarding Children Unit 2.22% 1 0.00% 0 2.04% 1
Total 37 32 49

 47% (23) of all complaints received were in respect of services provided 
by the Safeguarding and Care Planning Teams.

 The majority of children receiving a service are allocated a social worker 
from the Safeguarding and Care Planning Teams and as such, 
dissatisfaction with aspects of the service can be envisaged.  

 After investigation, only 13% (3) of all complaints about the Safeguarding 
& Care Planning Teams were upheld.  

 24% (12) of complaints were regarding the services provided by the 
Referral and Assessment Team.  This is a 50% increase on the number of 
complaints received during 2016/17, (6).  

 The key theme identified from the complaints about the Referral and 
Assessment Team was disputes to information included with social work 
reports, which accounted for four of the complaints received.  

 Where it is found that the information is factually incorrect, this can be 
amended.  However, any differences to opinion can only be noted on the 
child / children’s case file.  

 It should also be noted that during 2017/18, 1889 referrals were received 
by the Referral and Assessment Team.  This means that only 1% of 
referrals had resulted in a formal complaint. 

 10% (5) of complaints were about the Disabled Children’s Team.  The 
majority of issues raised were disputes after an assessment of social care 
needs.  Two of the complaints received were regarding issues with 
allotted budgets via direct payments.  As a resolution to the complaints 
regarding budgets, the child / children concerned underwent an 
assessment review. 

Main Complaint Issues 2015 2016 2016 2017 2017 2018
Delay 2.70% 1 0.00% 0 0.00% 0
Lack of Service 16.22% 6 0.00% 0 16.33% 8
Quality of Service 40.54% 15 59.38% 19 73.47% 36
Refusal of Service 0.00% 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0
Staff Issues 40.54% 15 40.63% 13 10.20% 5
Total 37 32 49

Page 27



8

 Only 10% (5) complaints received during 2017/18 were regarding 
allegations of inappropriate staff conduct.  This is a decrease of almost 
62% on the number received during 2016/17, (13).

 After investigation, 60% (3) of the five complaints received were not 
upheld and 40% (2) were partly upheld.   

 Where there is evidence that workers have acted inappropriately or failed 
to follow processes or procedures, the matter is always addressed directly 
with the member of staff concerned and appropriate measures are then 
taken to reduce the risk of any similar situations occurring.  

 Quality of Service remained the key theme of all complaints received.  
Almost 74% (36) of complaints received were regarding the quality of the 
services provided.

 Quality of service includes:
o Missed or late contact visits;
o Contact visits that are cancelled at very short notice;
o Conflicting or incorrect information by workers;  
o Allegations of poor support from the services involved in individual 

cases; 
o Poor communication between the workers and family members. 

 After investigation, only 8% (3) of complaints regarding quality of service 
were upheld. 

 20% (10) of complaints were regarding the standard of communication 
with families of children receiving a service.  

 After investigation, 50% (5) of complaints about the quality of 
communication were found to be unjustified.  30% (3) were fully upheld 
and 20% (2) were partially upheld.

 Where it had been evidenced that communication had been poor, team 
managers always ensure that the reasons are discussed with the social 
worker concerned.  If necessary, measures can be put in place to help the 
social worker to improve communication where appropriate.   

 Almost 41% (20) of the complaints received were regarding the standard 
of social work support provided to individual families.  

 After investigation, 70% (14) of the complaints regarding social worker 
support were not upheld, 25% (5) were partially upheld and only 5% (1) 
was fully upheld.

9.4 Methods of Complaint

Method of Complaint 2015 2016 2016 2017 2017 2018
Complaint Form 8.11% 3 6.25% 2 12.24% 6
E - mail 29.73% 11 21.88% 7 26.53% 13
Children’s LAC Leaflet / MoMo 0.00% 0 3.13% 1 4.08% 2
Letter 32.43% 12 25.00% 8 26.53% 13
Personal Visit 8.11% 3 9.38% 3 8.16% 4
Telephone 21.62% 8 34.38% 11 22.45% 11
Total 37 32 49

Page 28



9

 Email and letters continue to be the main method of complaint referral 
accounting for 53% (26) of complaints.  This is a 73% increase from the 
number of complaints received by email and letter during 2016/17, (15).  
Emails and letter tend to raise a number of complex issues regarding 
various services.  After consideration of the increase in written complaints, 
it may be that this may be due to the complainant ensuring that a written 
record of their complaint is made and that they wished to ensure that all of 
their concerns had been included.  

 Complaints brought by relatives of children receiving a service accounted 
for 88% (43) of complaint referrals.  

9.5 Complaints and Concerns direct from Looked after Children

 Five complaints were received from young people.  Four were from 
children / young people receiving a service and one was from a previously 
looked after young person.

 This is an increase from the three complaints received during 2016/17.
 One of the complaints received was via the MoMo (Mind of My Own) app.  
 After investigation, only one complaint was partially upheld and four were 

found to be unjustified.  
 One low level issue was also received from a looked after young person 

regarding the support provided when moving into new accommodation.  
This issue was resolved by the social worker concerned.  

9.6 Timescales and Outcomes

Complaints Resolved within 20 Working 
Days 2015 2016 2016 2017 2017 2018
Resolved 19 15 20
Not Resolved 16 17 29

 The statutory timescales for resolution is ten working days. This can be 
extended to twenty working days with the complainant’s agreement. 

 Eight complaints were completed within ten working days. 

 This means that only 17% of complaints responded to had met the 
statutory timescale of ten working days. 

 Twenty complaints were completed within twenty working days.

 This evidences that only 43% of complaints met the extended timescale of 
twenty working days. 

 Twenty nine complaints, (which includes the two complaints that are 
outstanding), had not been completed within twenty working days.  

 Where a complaint is not responded to within ten or twenty working days, 
the complainant has the legal right to request that their complaint is 
considered at Stage 2 of the complaints procedure. 

Page 29



10

 It is a statutory duty to respond to complaints within the prescribed 
timescales.  The service will need to consider how response timescales 
can be improved.  

Outcomes of all categories of 
complaints

2015 2016 2016 2017 2017 2018

Outstanding 0 2 2
Closed or withdrawn 14.29% 5 3.13% 1 2.13% 1
Not upheld 34.29% 12 43.75% 14 55.32% 26
Partially upheld 40.00% 14 50.00% 16 31.91% 15
Upheld 11.43% 4 3.13% 1 10.64% 5
Total 35 32 49

 In 2017/18, 55% (26) of complaints were not upheld after investigation.  
This is a 86% increase on the number of complaints upheld during 
2016/17, (14).

 The number of complaints found to be unjustified evidences that the 
workers involved had acted appropriately and in line with guidance and 
procedures. 
 

 Almost 32% (15) of all complaints were partially upheld.  

 Complaints that are partially upheld often include a number of varied 
issues.  After investigation, it may be that some of the elements of 
complaint, such as poor communication, delays in arranging contact or 
missed visits may be felt to be justified, but the primary issue had been 
found to have been unjustified.  

 In each case where it is found that there had been some fault by the 
service, the complainant will always receive a written apology within their 
response letter.  

10.010.0 StageStage  22  andand  33  ComplaintsComplaints

  2015 2016 2016 2017 2017 2018
Stage 2 Complaints 5 1 2

Stage 3 Review Panels Held 1 4 0

 Two complaints were registered at Stage 2 of the Complaints Procedure 
during 2017/18.

 This is a 50% increase from the numbers of Stage 2’s received during 
2016/17, (1). 

 One of the Stage 2 complaints received was around the quality of the 
child protection processes and the internal management of the child 
protection conferences.  The complainant also raised issues around 
discrimination. 

Page 30



11

The complaint was considered by an external investigating officer.  The 
external investigating officer was accompanied throughout the 
investigation by an external independent person, which is in line with the 
requirements of the Statutory Complaints Procedure.  Following a full and 
thorough investigation, the complaint was found to be partially justified.  

The investigating officer had felt that there were areas where it had been 
evidenced that the level of service provision could have been improved 
upon. However, the investigating officer did not find any evidence of 
discrimination by the workers involved. 

As an outcome to the complaint, the investigating officer had 
recommended a number of changes to the service practices and 
processes.  One of the recommendations identified was that the service 
should always ensure that child protection reports are received by family 
members in a more timely manner.  This will allow family members time to 
be able to consider the contents of the report and to provide them with the 
opportunity to raise any queries beforehand.    

All of the recommendations were considered and subsequently agreed by 
the services concerned and implemented immediately.  The complainant 
also received a full apology for any injustice that had been caused.   

 The second Stage 2 complaint was regarding a number of areas within 
Children’s Services.  It also included elements relating to the Council’s 
Benefits Team along with services provided by The Gateshead Housing 
Company.  

The complaint was fully investigated and found to be unjustified.  The 
complainant had requested significant compensation as an outcome to 
the complaint, so the complainant was advised of their right to submit a 
claim to the Council’s Finance and Risk Team.  

As the complaint had taken some time to complete, the complainant 
received a separate letter of apology for the delay in responding to the 
complaint. 

 All improvements from Stage 2 investigations are included within this 
report.  

 There were no Stage 3 Review Panels during 2017/18.  

11.011.0 ComplaintsComplaints  fromfrom  BAMEBAME  CommunityCommunity  

11.1 During 2017/18, four Stage 1 complaints and one Stage 2 complaint were 
received from members of the BAME community.  

 One of the Stage 1 complaints received was from a looked after young 
person.

Page 31



12

 After investigation of this complaint, it was found that the workers had 
offered appropriate support and as such the complaint was not upheld.   

 Two complainants were offered an assessment review, which resolved 
the issues complained about.  

 One complaint was partly upheld and an apology was offered.  
 Two compliments were received from members of the BAME community.  

12.012.0 LearningLearning  fromfrom  ComplaintsComplaints

12.1 At the end of every investigation the investigating officer is responsible for 
identifying any improvements or recommendations resulting from the 
complaint.  Changes can include policy, procedure or staff development.  

12.2 Complaints about individual practice or failure to follow procedures are dealt 
with by reinforcement of processes and reiterating customer care standards 
through service / team meetings or individual supervision sessions.  In 
addition to this, if it is felt that additional or refresher training is required for 
either workers or teams, this will be progressed by the relevant team 
manager.  

12.3 In all cases, if it is found that an employee has deliberately acted 
inappropriately or maliciously, the issue will be dealt with in line with internal 
employment procedures.   During 2017/18, no complaint about staff conduct 
had resulted in any formal employment action against an individual worker 
within Children’s Services.  

Improvements to service identified as a result of a complaint:

 A Review of the internal procedures for the Safeguarding Children Unit 
(SCU) has taken place.  The procedure now instructs Senior 
Safeguarding Clerks to verify information shared within child protection 
conferences in respect of family members before it is recorded within child 
protection minutes. 

 The Safeguarding Children Unit now use the contact information provided 
by family members on the attendance sheet, to check alongside the 
child's electronic records.  This will ensure that all child protection plans 
and minutes are sent to the correct address to maintain confidentiality.

 The Safeguarding Children Unit also ensure that information regarding 
change of addresses, which has been provided by family members, is 
used to update the child's electronic records.  

 The Safeguarding Children Unit have reviewed and refreshed the 
Conference Agenda to include a section which prompts Senior Clerks to 
confirm factual information in relation to current addresses, post codes 
and dates of birth.  In also prompts staff to confirm information in relation 
to any GP’s that are involved with the child or significant others.  

 A number of recommendations were made in respect of a complaint from 
a looked after child.  Although these were specific to the child’s case, it did 
highlight that social workers should ensure that they listen to the views of 

Page 32



13

children / young people and, where necessary, assist them to formally 
raise concerns.  

 That all workers should be sensitive of the way they explain any decisions 
taken when speaking to families of children receiving a service.  They 
should also understand how the situation may affect those who are 
experiencing mental or emotional issues due to the challenging situation. 

 If families of children receiving a service are agreeable, the service could 
ensure that they are informed of any significant information or health 
appointments relating to their child by either text or email. 

 Procedures have been reviewed by the Adoption Team, which will ensure 
that as soon as information is known about a birth family member’s death 
that it is shared with adoptive parents.  This will be done initially by 
telephone and if no reply is gained then a home visit will be made.

 That when potentially distressing information needs to be shared with 
family members, consideration should be taken by the worker to ascertain 
the best way to share this with them.  Unplanned telephone calls should 
be avoided and consideration given to meeting with the family member to 
share the information in person where possible.  

 The processes and procedures within the Disabled Children’s Team are 
being reviewed to ensure they provide an efficient, effective and children 
focused service. In particular, the service should develop a clear Appeals 
Process and ensure that this is included within the Disabled Children’s 
Team Panel Terms of Reference. 

13.013.0 ComplimentsCompliments

13.1 There was a 16% increase in all compliments received, (102 from 88).  
During 2017/18 48% of all representations about Children Services were 
compliments. 

 Twelve compliments were regarding the Adoption Service;
 Four compliments were in respect of the services provided by the 

Fostering Team; 
 Twenty compliments were regarding the Children with Disabilities 

Services including Grove House Children’s Respite Facility;
 Twenty three compliments were regarding the Safeguarding and Care 

Planning Teams; 
 Ten compliments were regarding the Referral and Assessment Team;
 Five  compliments were regarding the Looked after Children Team;
 Compliments were also received regarding the Children’ Early Help 

Service, with the Individual Domestic Violence Team receiving twenty four 
compliments about the quality of the service provided.  

13.2 Examples of compliments received

 Adoption Team
A big massive thank you for everything you have done for us.  You have been 
amazing!! We could not have asked for better support!

Page 33



14

 Independent Reviewing Officers
Just a quick note in respect of a CP meeting, my child was extremely anxious 

as was I.  However, your calm supportive attitude went a long way to making a 
difficult and emotional meeting bearable.

 Referral and Assessment Team

When social services got in touch I was so scared I was going to lose my 
children and when an incident happened and they turned up at my front door I 
thought this is it my children are getting taken away from me but this wasn't the 
case, my social worker has been an absolute life saver she has brought me 
and my children closer together

 Safeguarding & Care Planning Teams

Just a quick thank you for everything you've done for me and the kids.  I really 
appreciate it all.   You know I struggle to trust people easily but you made it 

easier for me, so thank you.'

 Looked After Children Team

'I'd like to thank you for all the support you have gave me over the few years 
I've known you, it's much appreciated.  

 Fostering Team

Thank you for all of your hard work in sorting out payments and for helping to 
keep the children’s placement going.

14.014.0 ConclusionsConclusions

14.1 Complaints about Children’s Services increased by 53% (49) in comparison 
with the number received during 2016/17, (32).  However, during 2017/18, 
there were 2,797 children receiving a service.  This means that 98% (2748) 
of those who currently have social work involvement have been satisfied with 
the support offered by either the individual workers or teams within 
Children’s Services.  

14.2 Only two complaints moved to Stage 2 of the Procedure.  This means that 
96% (45) of complaints had been resolved at Stage 1, (two complaints 
remain outstanding).   

14.3 Quality of services provided continues to attract the most complaints about 
Children’s Services. The majority of the issues raised within complaints 
about quality were around the support offered by the service or the worker 
concerned. 

14.4 It must be noted that complaints are inevitable when social workers, whose 
responsibility is to the child / children to whom they have a legal duty to 
protect, have to develop and maintain relationships with the families 
concerned.  Misunderstandings about the role and remit of a Children’s 

Page 34



15

Services social worker is common, especially when family members ask 
social workers for support with personal issues which are not linked to the 
services involvement.  In cases where the request for personal support is 
refused, the family member can feel wronged and as result, may then submit 
a formal complaint.  

14.5 To facilitate easy feedback about their services, Children’s Services ensure 
that publicity about complaints and compliments is available in public areas 
and that it is made available to all families receiving a service.  It is also 
evident that the services are generally well received as during 2017/18, 48% 
of formal representations about Children’s Services were compliments. 

Contact Officer: Alison Routledge, X2408

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



             

TITLE OF REPORT:   Analysis of School Inspections Spring and Summer 
Terms 2018

REPORT OF: Caroline O’Neil, Strategic Director, Care, Wellbeing 
and Learning

Summary 

This report details the position of Gateshead schools in relation to Ofsted Inspection 
findings for the spring and summer terms 2018.

Background 

In this version of the school inspection framework each school is given an overall 
effectiveness grade based upon the following areas; 

 effectiveness of leadership and management
 quality of teaching, learning and assessment
 personal development, behaviour and welfare
 outcomes for pupils.

The quality of Early Years and 6th Forms are also assessed.

September 2015 saw the introduction of a significantly different approach to school 
inspection.  Essentially, “outstanding” schools are largely exempt.  

Ofsted use the following grading system

1 = Outstanding
2 = Good
3 = Requires Improvement
4 = Inadequate

Schools identified as “requires improvement” will usually be re-inspected within two 
years, and often before.  Schools that are judged as requires improvement with a 
leadership management grade of requires improvement will receive regular 
monitoring visits from HMI.
Full copies of all inspection reports can be found at www.ofsted.gov.uk.

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



Outcomes

 Primary/Nursery School School Type Previous 
Inspection

Present 
Inspection

Caedmon Primary School Maintained good good

Carr Hill Primary Maintained good good

Parkhead Primary Maintained good good

Portobello Hill Primary Maintained good good

South Street Primary Maintained good requires 
improvement

White Mere Primary Maintained good good

Windy Nook Primary Maintained good good

St Joseph’s Catholic 
Primary Gateshead Maintained good good

St Joseph’s Catholic 
Primary Highfield Maintained good good

St Wilfrid’s Catholic Primary 
Highfield Maintained requires 

improvement good

Special School School Type Previous 
Inspection

Present 
Inspection

Hill Top Special Maintained good good

Page 38



Over the spring and summer terms 13 inspection reports were published:

10 Primary/Nursey Schools

 9 schools were judged to be good
 1 school judged to require improvement

 1 school improved on the previous grade.
 1 schools received a more negative grade.
 8 schools received the same grade as in the previous inspection

2 Secondary Schools

 1 school judged to be good
 0 school judged to require improvement
 1 school judged to be inadequate

 1 school improved on the previous grade.
 1 schools received a more negative grade.

1 Special School

 1 school was judged to be good
 This schools received the same grade as in the previous inspection

Overall Summary

68 Primary Schools – 63 Good or Outstanding, 5 Require Improvement

6 Specials – 6 Good or Outstanding

10 Secondary Schools – 4 Good or Outstanding

Recommendations 

OSC is asked to consider the position of schools in relation to ofsted inspections. 

Contact: Steve Horne                                                          Extension: 8612

Secondary School School Type Previous 
Inspection

Present 
Inspection

Whickham School Academy requires 
improvement good

Joseph Swan Academy Academy requires 
improvement inadequate

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Families 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

13 September 2018 

TITLE OF REPORT:   Edge of Care Review/Complex Child in Need and Rapid 
Response Evaluation Report

REPORT OF:  Caroline O’Neill, Strategic Director Care, Wellbeing and 
Learning 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

During the course of the review Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee has agreed to 
focus on the challenges facing services for adolescents and to the consider the key 
ingredients of successful approaches to effectively support young people and their families 
with complex needs one the edge of care.

The aim of this review is to strengthen best practice in service delivery where young people 
with complex needs are at risk of becoming looked after. The review will consider what 
actions will have the greatest impact on improving the lives of young people and safely 
promote the reduction of the number of young people becoming looked after. 

This report describes how young people come to be on the edge of care and give an 
understanding of the complexities.

This report sets out the scope of the review and processes to take it forward.

LEGAL POLICY CONTEXT 

1. The underpinning legislation (Children Act 1989 and associated subsequent guidance) 
presumes that children and young people are best cared for by their families. It 
establishes that parents have parental responsibilities in respect of their children – the 
onus is on agencies to seek solutions within the family wherever possible.

2. Working Together statutory guidance – outlines the requirements of LAs to have a 
LSCB, interagency child protection procedures, and how to undertake safeguarding 
investigations.  The guidance confirms the lead role for LA social workers in: 
responding to young people and families in need of support and help and undertaking 
initial and core assessments as part of the assessment Framework

3. The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 received Royal Assent in April this year, which 
puts homelessness prevention on a statutory footing. The Act will come into force in 
April 2018, therefore it is a crucial period for all LAs, to look at current resources and 
begin preparation for the implementation of the new act.

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



2

BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE FOR THE SERVICE

4. The Complex Child in Need and Rapid Response Team (CCiN & RRT) is a new 
forward thinking and dynamic initiative that has been established by Gateshead Council 
within Safeguarding and Care Planning Services.  The CCiN and RRT has been 
developed in line with the principles and practice of the national agenda ‘Reclaiming 
Social Work’ and Keeping Families Together.

5. The CCiN and RRT has been established as a spend to save initiative working 
intensively with children, young people and families who have been assessed by a 
Social Worker as being a complex child in need, with the aim of preventing the 
safeguarding risk escalating to child protection or looked after.

EDGE OF CARE DEFINITION  

6. The journey through the care system includes periods of time that are often described as 
being on the “edge of care”.

7. For the purpose of this report “edge of care” covers the following situations:

•   Before entering care the young person has been identified as being at risk of 
needing care. 

•   When a young person is leaving care by going home or to live with a relative or into 
a range of accommodation.

•   Young people 16 and 17 years presenting as homeless.
•   Care leavers are particularly vulnerable as are their future children

CHARACTERISTICS OF YOUNG PEOPLE ON THE EDGE OF CARE 

8. Young people at the edge of care are not a homogeneous group.  Every young person is 
an individual whilst it is important not to over generalise from specific situations, there 
are many different patterns of need that can lead to a young person becoming looked 
after. These are young people often with longstanding issues that have escalated or 
become more problematic. 

9. Young people between the ages of 11year plus who have required care or edge of care 
services often have experienced one or more of the following characteristics:

• Violence from young person – either directed at parent(s) or sibling(s)
•   Criminal or anti-social behaviour, gang activity or substance misuse
•   Difficulty controlling emotions and anger management issues, putting others in the 

household at risk.
•   Mental illness, self-harming and suicide attempts
•   Family dysfunction
•   Young person homeless or abandoned, neglect or abuse
•   Young people who go missing from home, demonstrate risk taking behaviours, are 

at risk of sexual exploitation and are not accepting of the risks they are taking
•   School, exclusions, non-attendance 

Page 42



3

10.  Parents capacity to cope with these issues can be limited due a number of factors 
including:

•   Their own mental illness
•   Substance misuse
•   Poor parenting skills, difficulties in learning and sustaining safe parenting
•   Experience of domestic violence and abuse 
•   Intergenerational domestic violence and abuse can impact and limit wider family or
community support networks

TEAM PROFILE AND PARTNERHSIP WORKING  

11.  The Service is available Monday to Friday till 10pm and weekend 11am – 7pm, the 
team is staffed by nine experienced social workers and two family advocates 
overseen by Deb Loraine, Senior Practice Supervisor, Gillian Hammell-Purvis, 
Practice Supervisor, reporting to Steve Day, Service Manager and Principal Social 
Worker (Children).  The team is supported by a Business Support Manager whose 
role is specifically designed to support social workers to spend more time with families 
by releasing them as much as possible from day-to-day bureaucracy.  

12.  The team has established close collaborative working with key partners, such as 
CYPS, Education, Platform, Probation and Housing. 

METHODOLOGY AND APPROACH

13. The CCiN & RRT aims to deliver systemic social work practice that is relational and 
strengths based that positions the families as experts in their unique family situation.

14. Team case discussions known as a ‘unit meeting’ is underpinned by systemic 
practice: the whole family system is mapped out, difficulties in the family are viewed 
relationally and intergenerational patterns and family scripts are explored.  
Considering the family circumstances in this way discourages blame and prevents the 
problem being located within individuals.  Any intervention takes a family approach 
and aims to support change within the system through offering ideas to establish 
different patterns of behaviour and ways of relating.

15. The team works on the principle that an effective relationship with children and family 
is key to deliver effective social work intervention.  The model is strengths based so 
recognises that there are expectations to the presenting problem and the family are 
part of the solution.

ACCESS TO THE TEAM AND REFERRAL PATHWAY

16. Access to the CCiN and RRT is through the current referral process into Referral & 
Assessment Team (R&A) where the children have been assessed as child in need.

17. The social workers in the team have capped caseloads of 5/6 families, to support the 
intensive model of intervention.  All cases within the team will be subject to robust 
monitoring and review, multi-agency care team meetings will be 4-6 weekly based on 
the needs of the child and family and plans will be reviewed every three months, 
reviews will be chaired by a Manager.  

Page 43



4

EVALUATION AND IMPACT 

18. In summary since the team went live in January 2018, we have been on a journey that 
has provided opportunities and experiences to establish a baseline of practice that 
can be built on going forward.

19. The model of work and the intensity of intervention given to families, with some 
families having contact up to four - six times per week, has shown to be effective.  
This is evidenced through the feedback from young people and families (see 
appendix) as well as the progress against the plan.

20. It is also recognised that the effectiveness of the intervention delivered will be 
enhanced further once all the team are trained in systemic social work practice and 
this will reinforce case discussion through the unit meeting that develops curiosity into 
the functioning of the family developing the hypothesis into clear and actionable 
conversations with families.

21. Roles and responsibilities are now informed by clear model of practice that is 
underpinned by regular case discussions with the relevant workers.  Feedback from 
professionals (see appendix) has also reinforced how the model drives change with 
families.

22. We have identified the needs of the families we work with from data collated by the 
child in need assessment and the predominant issues are as predicted above: alcohol 
misuse, domestic violence, mental health, anti-social behaviour, self-harm and 
emotional abuse, with the medium needs being: missing, child sexual exploitation and 
neglect.

23. We recognise that close partnership working is key to address the issues faced by 
young people and families and work is ongoing to reinforce this.  In particular, a focus 
on partnership working with CYPS, we currently have a CYPS Team Manager 
attending the unit meeting every three weeks to assist with case 
discussion/formulation.  Through discussions with the CYPS Community Clinical 
Manager, NTW, we are in the process of having an identified CYPS clinician who will 
work with the team on a weekly basis to help with case formulation, identify risks and 
support the team to identify the correct intervention to engage both the parents and 
the young people.

24. Working jointly with CYPS has helped us understand the risk and manage it together, 
social workers in the team report this helps with professional anxiety across the care 
teams.

25. The team has established professional relationships with Northumberland College, 
Princes Trust, Safety Works and sporting establishments to meet the needs of the 
young people we work with.

PERFORMANCE 

26. We have established Performance Standards that measure the purpose of the team, 
with intensity of contact with the family being paramount.

Page 44



5

27. We also recognise that we need to be measuring performance and outcomes that are 
relevant to teenagers and we are working with the Performance Team to do this, such 
as missing episodes, education training and employment, anti social behaviour etc.

28. The demands and complexity of the young people we are working with requires 
intensive intervention with some families receiving up to 4+ contacts per week.  
Evidence through the case studies (see appendix) shows building a trusting 
relationship with the young person and parents has been critical to engagement and 
enabling change.

29. It is recognised nationally, that addressing the safeguarding needs of teenagers is a 
challenge, especially when parents are doing everything expected of them.  We 
currently manage a few critical cases that could be deemed as child protection but in 
each of those cases we have discussed the concerns with partners and had 
consensus that it is the plan that will protect the young people and not what we call 
the plan.  This is nationally recognised through the Contextual Safeguarding work 
being carried out by Bedfordshire University.

COST SAVINGS, KNOWN AND PREDICTIVE

30. To establish a baseline for financial savings we identified a cohort of young people 
(excluding disabled children) who became LAC from 1 January 2016 – 18 April 2018 
who were aged between 10 and 17 years at the time they became LAC.  Using this 
cohort and tracking their journey and cost to the local authority a unit cost for 
placement costs avoided was established.

31. Using this baseline offset against cost of the service, the current saving for the first six 
months of delivery is £281,607, with the potential that if all the current young people 
being/have been worked with don’t come into care, the annual saving will be 
£757,999.  The savings target for 2018/19 is £670,000, which means the projected 
savings based on the current caseload have exceeded the target.

32. We have also monitored the LAC figures and the table below shows a reduction in 
11yrs + cohort of young people being accommodated in the first six months of the 
team going live. 

                        
                                 

Page 45



6

33. You will see from the data that the LAC figure at the end of the first six months sat at 
22 which is one of the lowest in the last eight years. It is recognised that a number of 
young people have been prevented from becoming LAC due to the ability of the team 
to respnd to the families need immediatley and with effective social work intervention 
delivered by the social workers in the out of hours (rapid response) element of the 
service.

34. The cases which the team work with are identified through the child in need 
assessment as either a risk of LAC or child protection or both, below are the figures 
that evidence the intervention deliverd by the team.

                 

No of Children Worked 
With

No of Families worked 
with

No of Children at risk of 
LAC

No of Families with a 
child at risk of LAC

No of Children Closed

No of Children that 
became be LAC 

(closed/currently open 
to CC)

No of Families with 
children that became 

be LAC 
(closed/currently open 

to CC)

Mar 2018 57 25 29 12 3

Apr 2018 69 31 38 18 1

May 2018 72 33 38 19 11 2 2

Jun 2018 64 29 35 17 9 1 1

Jul 2018 62 27 34 16 2 1 1

Aug 2018 59 27 31 16 4 1 1

Totals 87 45 42 20 30 4 3

35. In summary, since January 2018, the Complex CIN team have worked with a total of 
39 families, comprising of 87 children. Of those 87 children, 42 were considered to be 
at risk of becoming looked after (48%). Of those 42, 4 have since become LAC (either 
whilst being open to Complex CIN or after they were closed to Complex CIN).  This 
represents 4.5% of all cases worked with (up until the end of August 2018), and 9.5% 
of the cases which were considered as being at risk of becoming looked after.

36. The team will continue to track the progress of the young people following closure, to 
monitor long term effectiveness of the intervention delivered.

Page 46



7

 

SUMMARY OF KEY SRENGTHS AND CHALLENGES:

37. Strengths:

 The relational social work underpinned by systemic practice: feedback from 
families and professionals shows that this is an effective model in engaging and 
supporting families to address issues that impact upon the safeguarding of their 
children.

 Partnership working: close relationships with key partners that emphasises the 
joined up working and shared responsibility to safeguard children and young 
people.

 The flexibility and availability of the team outside of normal office hours, means 
we can respond to families in crisis during extended periods of time.

 Through having protected caseloads the team can provide the right level of 
intensity of intervention required to work with a family to support them to address 
their needs. 

 The family advocate whose role it is to engage and work closely with young 
people to engage them in services to address the risks that underpin their 
behaviour, such as substances or not engaging in education, training or 
employment, as well as risk from others through CSE or controlling or abusive 
personal relationships.

 As a service we understand the needs of the families and what maintains them 
in services, which allows us to be able to provide the right intervention alongside 
partners to address them.

37. Challenges: 

 We recognise the current framework for reporting savings is projected and not 
real-time savings, this is an area of development and we are working with the 
performance team and finance to establish other ways of evidencing savings, 
this includes monitoring through Gateshead families. 

 It is recognised nationally, that addressing the safeguarding needs of teenagers 
is a challenge, especially when parents are doing everything expected of them.  
We currently manage a few critical cases that could be deemed as child 
protection but in each of those cases we have discussed the concerns with 
partners and had consensus that it is the plan that will protect the young people 
and not what we call the plan.  This is nationally recognised through the 
Contextual Safeguarding work being carried out by Bedfordshire University, they 
are currently looking for local authorities to work with them and we intend to 
apply to be considered.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE TEAM 

38. The following are recommendations that have come out of the full evaluation report.
Page 47



8

1. Team to complete systemic practice training
2. Commitment to the ‘unit model’ case discussion and ensuring the integrity of 

systemic practice is maintained.
3. Develop leaflets for young people and families and professionals, that 

explains the team and what can be expected.
4. Expectations of the team: ‘edge of care’ and the complexity of the cases; by 

exploring ‘Contextual Safeguarding’ theory and practice with Bedfordshire 
University to reinforce the teams’ identity and purpose.

5. Continue to establish close working relationships with partners
6. Develop performance framework that captures the needs of adolescents
7. Consider removing the ‘Rapid Response’ title and describe them as CCiN 

social workers who work out of hours.

RECOMMENDATION 

1. The Committee is asked to consider and comment upon the contents of this report. 

CONTACT:     Elaine Devaney 
Service Director
Children and Families
Care wellbeing and learning

Page 48



9Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX: Full Evaluation Report: 

Section 1: Background and Rationale for service delivery:

1.1 The Complex Child in Need and Rapid Response Team is a new forward thinking and 
dynamic initiative that has been established by Gateshead Council within Safeguarding 
and Care Planning services. The CCiN and RR team has been developed in line with the 
principles and practice of the national agenda ‘Reclaiming Social Work’ and Keeping 
Families Together. 

1.2 The CCiN & RR team has been established as a spend to save initiative working 
intensively with children, young people and families who have been assessed by a 
Social Worker as being a complex child in need, with the aim of preventing the 
safeguarding risk escalating to child protection or looked after. 

Section 2: Team Profile and Collaborative Partnership Working:

2.1 The team is overseen by Steve Day Service Manager and Principal Social Worker 
(Children). Deb Loraine is the Senior Practice Supervisor supported by Gillian Hammell-
Purvis as the Practice Supervisor. The team is staffed by 9 Experienced Social Workers 
and 2 family Advocates who all bring complementary qualities and experience 
designed to meet the pressing complexity of needs in play with children on the edge 
of care. 

2.2 Of the 9 Social Workers; 6 undertake the statutory child in need responsibilities within 
office hours and 3 work on a rota basis evening and weekend to provide intensive 
social work intervention outside of normal working hours. The 2 family Advocates 
work within office hours and support the engagement of the child and parents in both 
a planned and crisis basis. 

2.3 It is recognised that for the intervention to be successful then the intervention 
delivered by the team will require close collaborative partnership working from our 
key partners such as, CYPS (children and young people’s service) Education, Health 0-
19yrs, Paediatrics, Drug and Alcohol Services and Adult Services. Developing these 
relationships and understanding referral pathways will be part of the role out of the 
service. The ethos of the team working with the family and the care team will be to 
have a transparent understanding of the risks within the family and the collaborative 
intervention plan that aims to address them. The focus of the team will be on the 
childs’ lived experience and this will be used as a measure of progress. 

Page 51



Section 3: Methodology and Approach:

3.1 The CCiN & RR team aims to deliver systemic social work practice that is relational and 
strengths based that positions the families as experts in their unique family situation.

3.2 The team works on the principle that an effective relationship with the children and 
family is key to deliver effective social work intervention. 

3.3 The model is strengths based so recognises that there are exceptions to the presenting 
problem and the family are part of the solution.  Using a systemic model the focus of 
the intervention isn’t on a ‘problem child’ but multiple perspectives from the family 
and other professionals which allows for multiple explanations including multiple 
solutions.

3.4 The CCiN team delivery model is centred round the ‘unit meeting’ which is a model of 
practice that supports group supervision. The ‘unit meeting model’ is where social 
workers, family advocates and managers meet to discuss different cases they are 
managing. 

3.5 The unit meeting is underpinned by systemic practice: the whole family system is 
mapped out, difficulties in the family are viewed relationally and intergenerational 
patterns and family scripts are explored. Considering the family circumstances in this 
way discourages blame and prevents the problem being located within individuals. 
Any intervention takes a family approach and aims to support change within the 
system through offering ideas to establish different patterns of behaviour and ways of 
relating.  

3.6 The caseloads are capped to 5 families per social worker to allow the level of intensity 
deemed appropriate to support a family to achieve sustained change to safeguard 
their children. 

3.7 It is envisaged that the team will be able to respond to the needs of the family and 
increase the level of support if required. As such a family could have a statutory social 
worker,  a rapid response (out of hours) social worker and a family Advocate. Where 
the family requires this level of intensity the response will be planned and co-
ordinated with the family to ensure continued engagement. 

3.8 As the team will provide intensive intervention it is expected that the length of time 
the team would be involved with a family would be less than that of mainstream CiN 
cases.   

3.9 The team has a unique Business support post, which in the reclaiming social work 
model is referred to the unit coordinator, we have used this as a blueprint to develop 
the post. The main purpose of the business support manager is to reduce the 
administration burden on the team to free up to do the work with children and 
families.  

Page 52



Section 4: Access to the Team and Referral pathway:

4.1 Access to the Complex Child in Need & Rapid Response Team is through the current 
referral process into Referral & Assessment Team (R&A) where a child is living in an 
environment that significantly compromises their welfare and may be a child in need 
of help or protection.  

4.2 There is no direct referral route into CCiN & RR Team.

4.3 The criteria for transfer from Referral and Assessment (R&A) or the Safeguarding and 
Care Planning Team (SGCP) to the Complex Child in Need Team is:

4.4 There is an assessed need for a substantial multi-agency response and coordinated 
intervention because the child’s development and safety is significantly impaired 
due to the impact of complex parental mental ill health or learning disability or 
substance misuse, domestic abuse or family dysfunction, and professional 
judgement based on further assessment indicates an escalating risk that the family 
arrangements are likely to breakdown requiring the child to become either looked 
after or subject to a CP plan.

Section 5: Review and Monitoring:

5.1 All cases active to the team will have a CiN plan and these will be developed with 
child(ren) and parents/carers and involve our partner agencies.

5.2 All cases within the team will be subject to robust monitoring and review, multi-agency 
care team meetings will be 4 – 6 weekly based on the needs of the child and family 
and plans will be reviewed initially at 3 months and every 6 months subsequently, 
reviews will be chaired by a Manager. 

5.3 If a Child in Need Plan fails to bring about significant positive change in a child’s 
circumstances over a period of 6 months and the goals identified in the Child in Need 
Plan have not been achieved, formal consideration will be given to escalating the case 
to the child protection arena. 

Section 6: Update of the first 6 months: 

6.1 The complex child in need team went live on 2nd January 2018.  

Page 53



Section 7: Recruitment / Staffing:

7.1 Whilst the team went live in January 18, it took the first 2 months to recruit 8 of the 
9 social workers and we are currently carrying a rapid response Social Work vacancy. 

7.2 We were able to recruit 3 social workers and the Practice Supervisor internally and 
whilst they could move into post quickly, they also brought outstanding work with 
them, which included longer term court work. Currently we have a Social Worker 
and the Practice Supervisor working with a case each that is in court. This has had an 
impact on the ability of the team to take cases as expected.

7.3 The 2 family Advocates were recruited and in post by mid-April 2018, which has also 
meant the team wasn’t fully operational in terms of the intensive service it offers to 
children and families. 

Section 8: Roles and Responsibilities: 

8.1 Each member of staff appointed to the CCiN and RR team were recruited on the 
basis of their diverse experience and skills with the view they would complement 
each other. Whilst the team has been live from 2nd January, it is fair to say that it has 
only been since mid-April that we have been sufficiently resourced to implement the 
package of intense support to families. Since this time the team have begun to truly 
develop their roles and responsibilities, the team have embraced their roles and 
working with young people and families has allowed these roles to be tested and 
embedded. 

8.2 As such it is now established that whilst the statutory social worker holds case 
responsibility, they share the responsibility for delivery of intervention into families 
with the rapid response (out of hours) social worker. Embedding the principle that 
the rapid response social worker delivers social work intervention out of hours. 

8.3 The role of the family advocate has been clear from the outset they were recruited 
to engage and work with children and young people on key issues such as education 
training and employment, substance misuse, constructive activity, whilst actively 
addressing their cognitive understanding (consequential thinking) of unsafe choices 
and actions. 

8.4 Communication has been vital within the team due to the fast pace of working with 
children and families and the unit meeting underpins this. 

8.5 The small caseload and unit meeting model has meant that all of the workers within 
the team have a good understanding of all of the families, which means that anyone 
of them could respond to a crisis if required. 

Page 54



8.6 As stated above the role of the Business support manager was modelled on the unit 
coordinator in the reclaiming social work model, however this wasn’t reflected in the 
job profile which lead to some misunderstanding of the role. As stated this is a 
unique role to the council, so the person recruited to that role didn’t fully appreciate 
their baseline function was to support the frontline workers to spend more time with 
families by releasing them from the day to day bureaucracy. Additional to this the 
worker recruited to the post was continuing to offer support to his previous team. 
This meant that systems and processes weren’t established as quickly as expected.  
This role is now fully operational and the team benefits from it.

Section 9: Multi agency response: 

9.1 The Senior Practice Supervisor has established a close working relationship with 
CYPS. Through discussions it is recognised that the work of the CCiN team 
complements the work of CYPS and closer collaborative working will enhance the 
effectiveness of outcomes for the family for both services. As such we have 
agreement that the Team manager, of the Neurodevelopmental Pathway, who is 
systemically trained, has committed to attending the unit meeting every 3 weeks, 
this is proving very effective. 

9.2 The Senior Practice Supervisor is also in discussions with the CYPS Community 
Clinical Manager, NTW looking at a model for closer collaborative working, where a 
CYPS clinician will work with the team to help with case formulation, identify risks 
and support the team to identify the correct intervention to engage both the parents 
and young people.

9.3 It is evident through a number of cases that collaborative working with CYPS has 
enhanced the understanding of the needs of the young person and family and 
assisted with a more focused intervention. 

9.4 Working jointly with CYPS has helped us understand the risk and manage it together, 
social workers in the team report this helps with professional anxiety across the care 
teams. 

9.5 We have been proactive in inviting partners to the unit meeting to discuss specific 
cases and with one case paediatrics and CYPS came to explore our understanding of 
the young person and family we were working with. In this instance the challenge for 
the workers has been understanding the impact of Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder 
on the young person’s cognitive ability and risk-taking behaviour. Being able to 
explore the physical impact of the brain damage on the young person’s cognitive 
ability and her drive to understand and make sense of her identity (she was 
adopted), has widened the scope of exploring various hypothesis and how to address 
them. It also provided an opportunity to share concerns and agree a plan to manage 
the risk with professionals.

Page 55



9.6 Through the caseload we have developed very close working relationships with 
Sanctuary and the social worker and police officer in the team, as such they have 
been an active part of the disruption plan and supported the team with intelligence 
as well as engaging the young people.

9.7 The Family Advocates hadn’t worked in Gateshead prior to joining the team so have 
worked hard to establish links with services to meet the needs of the young people 
we work with.

9.8 Developing partnership with Northumberland college giving young people we work 
with opportunities to attend construction courses such CSCS card.

9.9 Working with Sport England (Tyne and Wear) to access active communities grant for 
sport activities that we can engage the young people we work with in, especially in 
terms of longer term funding so this isn’t a cost to the service. 

9.10 Established contact with the Princes Trust, who provide opportunities for vulnerable 
young people to thrive and support them to build the skills and confidence. 

9.11 Established contact with the Safety Works project in Newcastle who offer session on 
ASB, DV, CSE awareness, Community safety and more.

9.12 We recognise that we are in the early stages of establishing closer working 
relationships with key partners and this will continue as we go forward.  

Section 10: Workload:

10.1 It was agreed that the team would have a maximum caseload of 30 families and this 
has been established over the initial months. The table below shows which teams 
the cases have come from:

10.2 The referral route is for the allocated (SGCP or R&A) social worker to identify that 
the family may be eligible for the complex child in need team, to have an initial 
discussion with the team (practice supervisor / senior practice supervisor), where it 
is agreed, the case will then be discussed at a unit meeting. 

Team Cases % 
Referral & Assessment 
Team 45 52.33%
Safeguarding & Care 
Planning Team 1 8 9.30%
Safeguarding & Care 
Planning Team 2 15 17.44%
Safeguarding & Care 
Planning Team 3 9 10.47%
Safeguarding & Care 
Planning Team 4 9 10.47%
Grand Total 86 100.00%

Page 56



10.3 The focus of the unit meeting will be to establish an understanding of the family 
dynamics using the genogram and understand what has been happening in the 
family which constitutes the risk statement, this is balanced by the safety statement. 
The social worker will present their ‘current dilemma’ and a reflective discussion is 
held to generate different hypothesis that might help us understand what is 
happening within the family, this will inform if the case is suitable for the CCiN team. 

Section 11: Needs of the families:

11.1 The needs of the families were identified through the cin assessment and Carefirst 
data show the following:

The table shows the highest presenting needs within the families:

Factor Identified P No %

[01] Alcohol Misuse - Child/Parent/Other 35 40.2%

[03] Domestic Violence - Child/Parent/Other 35 40.2%

[04] Mental Health - Child/Parent/Other 52 59.8%

[14A] Socially Unacceptable Behaviour 49 56.3%

[15A] Self Harm 35 40.2%

[17A] Emotional Abuse 42 48.3%

This table presents the medium level of needs within the families:

Factor Identified P No %

[07A] Young Carer 21 24.1%

[10A] Missing 22 25.3%

[11A] Child Sexual Exploitation 23 26.4%

[16A] Neglect 33 37.9%

[18A] Physical Abuse 23 26.4%

11.2 As a service that works predominantly with families with challenging teenagers, we 
quickly realised that the data available on Carefirst through the CiN assessment 
doesn’t provide a good reflection of the needs of teenagers. 

11.3 Overall the tables above do highlight the key issues the team have been working 
with such as: substance misuse, mental health, socially unacceptable behaviour, self-
harm, emotional abuse, child sexual exploitation and missing. However, what isn’t 
are key issues that are specific to adolescence such as: Education Training and 
Employment, lifestyle (such as negative peer influences, age appropriate friends, risk 
taking behaviour) and behavioural issues (poor emotional regulation, violence 
towards others or property, manipulative / controlling behaviour). 

Page 57



11.4 The team in conjunction with the performance team will profile the young people 
we work with and develop a monitoring tool that can capture the baseline concern 
and evidence progress against them. 

Section 12: Delivery – length of intervention:

12.1 It was recognised at the outset that whilst the intensive intervention would 
potentially reduce the length of time the team would be involved with a family, it 
also has the potential to unveil greater concerns within the family that would meet 
the safeguarding threshold. 

12.2 It was clear from the outset that whilst the ethos of the team was keep children with 
their families there will be on occasion times when it isn’t safe enough for the child 
to do this. 

12.3 As such in the initial 6 months we have worked with 14 families where the risk is 
significant enough to escalate to child protection proceedings:

12.4 Of the 30 cases we have held:

 Strategy 
Meetings

S47s 
initiated

ICPCs 
Held

Legal 
Gateway 
meetings

LAC 
Cases 

Starting
Jan 
2018 0 3 1 0 0
Feb 
2018 2 0 0 0 0
Mar 
2018 1 0 0 0 0
Apr 
2018 1 0 0 2 0
May 
2018 3 6 0 1 0
Jun 
2018 7 5 1 1 1
Total 14 14 2 4 1

Section 13: Performance:

13.1 The team has recently established its Performance Service Standards and one area of 
interest for the team is the level of contact with families. Our initial performance 
standards focused on how often each child was seen, but we quickly realised the 
data didn’t give an accurate reflection of the intensity of the work as for some 
families have 4 children and it may be that 3 of them aren’t being worked with 
intensively, so we felt the best measure would be contact with families which would 
incorporate contact with parents where the child isn’t seen, alongside specific work 
with the teenager. 

Page 58



13.2 The data below also shows the level of contact the team have had with families’ 
month by month and by worker role. As you can see from the data it shows the 
profile of the caseloads alongside the recruitment of the team. As you can see the 
Advocates only came into post mid Aril so their contacts start from their and 
significantly increase the overall contact with families.

Number of Cases and Level of contact in the team: 

Cases 
Starting

Cases 
Closed

Cases 
held each 

month 
(Team)

Visits 
Completed

Advocate 
Contacts 
Recorded

Total 
Visits

Jan 
2018 40 0 40 51 0 51
Feb 
2018 9 0 49 57 0 57
Mar 
2018 9 3 55 140 1 141
Apr 
2018 12 1 66 231 35 266
May 
2018 15 7 74 168 71 239
Jun 
2018 2 2 74 147 53 200
Total 87 13 74 794 160 954

13.3 The above table shows the number of cases (children) that the team are currently 
working with. This translates into 5 families per Social Worker. Through this period 
of time this has fluctuated with on occasion a worker carrying 6 families where there 
has been a focused piece of work.

13.4 Outside of the normal referral route, the team have been creative and undertaken 
specific pieces of work on 2 cases that have remained open to the SGCP teams. Each 
case posed the risk of the child being accommodated and the role of my team was to 
deliver a systemic intensive intervention to prevent this. 

13.5 The data above shows we have closed 13 cases that equates to 5 families, of these 3 
stepped down to Early Help and 2 closed completely.

Section 14: Cost savings, known and predictive TYE

14.1 To establish a baseline for financial savings we identified a cohort of young people 
(excluding disabled children) who became LAC from 01/01/2016 – 18/04/2018 who 
were aged between 10 – 17 at the time they became LAC. Using this cohort, we 
established their journey to becoming LAC which included length of time LAC and if 
there were multiple LAC episodes, including if the young person was also subject to 
child protection. Also included was the type of placement: in-house fostering, 
residential, IFA etc and where possible the name of the residential unit to specifically 
identify costs. 

14.2 Using this cohort finance looked at each placement and allocated the current cost 
for each placement to then come up with an average placement cost per annum per 

Page 59



child within the cohort, which is £50,129.  This will then be used as the unit cost for 
placement costs avoided as a result of the RRT/CCIN successfully keeping/ delaying a 
young person from coming into care.

14.3 It is proposed that the we will only claim the saving once the young person has been 
successfully kept from coming into care for a period of 12 weeks from the date they 
were first worked with.  

14.4 Using this baseline offset against cost of the service, the current saving for the first 6 
months of delivery is £281,607, with the potential that if all the current young 
people being/ have been worked with don’t come into care, the annual saving will be 
£757,999.  The savings target for 18/19 is £670,000, which means the projected 
savings based on the current caseload have exceeded the target.

14.5 Many of the active cases in CCiN came from SGCP and had commissioned services 
working on their plan, which ceased when transferred, it is recognised that 
additional financial analysis of these cases would show further real time savings 
made by CCiN for the local authority.  

Section 15: Case Studies:

The following gives the highlights from cases within the team, further detail of the cases can 
be found in the appendix. The purpose of this is bring to life the work of the team:

P Family came to the attention of children’s services after Mam reporting she wished to drive 
her car into a wall due to the demands on the children.   Mam had previously been a victim 
of domestic violence from the children’s father and it appeared she not only had issues 
around confidence, but also possibly some mental health and alcohol too.  The children, age 
13,9 and 7, had behaviours which were extremely poor, in particularly their attitude towards 
their mother.  The eldest child was not attending school and they did not have any routines 
or boundaries within the home.  The children’s behaviours had escalated to the point that 
they were threatening their mother with a knife and harming the family pet dog.  An 
intensive support plan was put place utilising the CCIN social worker, rapid response and 
advocate with the aim to address the issues within the home and empower her to be able to 
care for her children.  The family are at the early stages of intervention however measured 
improvements have been made.  Parenting interventions have been completed with Mam 
and the children’s behaviours in the home are starting to change and it appears the violent 
behaviours in the home stopped.  Mam is reporting to feel more confident, has met with her 
GP to address her mental health and is no longer using alcohol as a coping mechanism. 

M Family transferred to CCIN in January after being open to Social Care since January 2017.   
Concerns were around a young person S and how she had been a victim of CSE.  S had 
extremely risk-taking behaviours in terms of attempted overdoses, binge drinking and drug 

Page 60



misuse and youth offending.  S was in a current abusive relationship, had previous raped at a 
party and was not willing to work with any professionals.   The successes of this case were 
dependent on relationship-based practice – regular visits and being consistent and reliable to 
enable Sophie to build up trust and engage in the intervention. This approach also gave 
parents faith in professionals whereas they had not felt this before. Completing interventions 
within the team, eg on substance misuse, rather than referring to other agencies such as 
Platform was important in this case due to history of non-engagement and risk of 
introducing too many professionals. The setup of the team gave the time and flexibility to be 
able to do this. Key partnership work has been with Operation Sanctuary to both address the 
safeguarding risks related to CSE and complete interventions to reduce future risks. 
Partnership work with the Princes Trust supported a future focussed intervention on helping 
S work towards her goal and improve self-esteem. 

W Family: Case transferred directly from R&A to CCIN.  The presenting issues for the family 
at the time were mams mental health, previous domestic violence within the home and the 
four children, age 8 to 17 years were displaying challenging behaviours and self-harm. Mam 
previous DV relationships. It appeared that the self-harming behaviours appeared to be a 
learnt coping strategy for the children from their mother.   CCIN worked with the eldest 
daughter, who had already moved into the Naomi Project and identified that she had an 
undiagnosed learning disability and was able to ensure that she was then transferred to the 
right services to meet her needs.  R now lives in a shared lives placement and is open to both 
CWD and Transitions team.  Partnership working has been a key part in helping driving 
change particularly for R and her family, with CYPS being key.   Social worker and CYPS were 
able to support staff at Naomi to maintain that placement. CYPS were able to provide 
strategies to professionals to ensure Rebecca’s behaviours around her mental health could 
be managed.  Work is on-going with Mam and the younger children – this case remains open 
to CCIN team 

B family referred from R&A with presenting issues focused around the eldest child E, her 
mental health, lack of education attendance, her behaviour which was linked to her 
diagnosis of autism which had got to the point of being violent and she had used knives and 
made threats with them towards her parents.  At Referral E was living with her maternal 
grandparents as a form of respite for parents – residential care was a real possibility as 
parents felt they were unable to manage her behaviour and protect the younger siblings 
within the family. Their relationship was close to breaking point.  E had also been out of 
education since November 2017 as she had been refusing to attend. CCIN team initiated 
Intensive direct work with each individual family member and then brought them all 
together as a family to have meetings.  Direct work was completed with parents on an 
individual basis to look at their history of being parented and how they parent to identify any 
conflicting styles.  An EHCP for E was pursued, agreed and implemented alongside direct 
with her to increase her emotional wellbeing and confidence.   In terms of progress E is now 
living back with her family full time, and able to identify when she is feeling stressed and can 

Page 61



take herself to Granma’s.  The family and the care team understand E better and can tackle 
issues using different techniques.  Parents have with support identified their own parenting 
styles and work with each other to try and complement each other rather than tackle an 
issue using different techniques. 

These case studies emphasis the level of need and intensity of intervention delivered by the 
team. 

Section 16: Feedback:

Families and Young People:
 
Mother of twin boys, asked how has the CCiN team helped you……

‘I seem a lot calmer, knowing the support is then when I need it’

Boy (14yrs), when asked is there anything about your life that has changed because of 
working with the CCiN team …..

‘I got better at decision making’ 

When asked what do you like most and why ….

‘when we go out and play snooker, cos he relates to us’ 

Boy aged 17years, when asked what support did you receive ….

‘I got helped to do my benefits…. and also discuss what my future prospects would may be, 
also offer support to help me wherever I needed it’ 

What did you enjoy most and why?

‘the chance to do something productive in boxing and also glad about getting my benefits 
sorted’

Page 62



Professionals:

Peer review feedback from colleagues from Doncaster, in respect of observing a unit 
meeting:

‘this was fantastic, I got a real sense that that worker was fully supported with next steps in 
their case, they went away with things to try out with the family, and I have no doubt if this 
didn’t work, they could go back and find alternative strategies’. I liked it so much we are 
going to pinch the model’ …..

Carole Mason, Consultant Paediatrician

‘I have been really impressed with the work of the CCiN team. It is refreshing to work with a 
team who are so keen to engage with, and work alongside, health and other agencies, and 
to ‘dig deep’ to really analyse and understand the roots of the families’ difficulties. My 
impression is of a team of workers who are going above and beyond to support these 
vulnerable young people, the only negative I can think of is that more families are not able to 
access this level of service’. 

Kim Pearson, Social Worker,  Operation Sanctuary

I have found good partnership working, relevant information is regularly shared and 
discussed….. the workers have a comprehensive knowledge of their cases which is assisted 
by the regular contact that is achieved. 

The advocates offer an additional support to the young people but also to parents/carers; I 
feel (this) also assists to promote links with other agencies.

The workers are transparent when working with parents, i.e. openly sharing what is 
worrying, balanced with what is going well, this is shared both verbally and visually within 
meetings.   

Suggested improvement: when the family have agreed to work with the CCIN Team; it is 
clearly explained the purpose and level of contact that is likely to be received from the 
service and this is understood. Being clear about the level of commitment required from 
parents and young people will increase the benefit from the service. 

Steve Graham, Education Support Services

the presence of your team at the EIP is a great help, that formal and free sharing of 
information and the mechanism to formally align work means that the chances of gaps 
appearing between the two services is reduced.

Page 63



Judith Turner, Community Clinical Manager, Newcastle/Gateshead Children and Young 
People’s Service

What you think has worked well? Closer working relationships and understanding between 
front line LA and CYPS. Meeting regularly to enhance the relationship aids in understanding 
the roles. It also prevents any misunderstanding or miscommunication.

What do you think we could improve?  A joint funded approach to enhance supervision and 
case understanding and formulations 

Any other comment?  This is an excellent approach from LA to work closely with families to 
prevent a child deteriorating or becoming looked after

Dr Jeanne Pratt, Service Manager, Education Support Service

What you think has worked well? There has been a degree of joint working that I have never 
previously experienced. That has been so positive.  

There have been many cases where I have had the opportunity to have my work regarding 
education supported by the CCiN team to get better outcomes and hopefully therefore also 
contributed to the CCiN achieving better outcomes also.  Some have been successful, others 
not, but in every case there has been aligned and co-ordinated action that was much better 
than the degrees of unilateral and often misunderstood actions that may have been 
undertaken in the past.    

What do you think we could improve? The joint meeting, we had was really positive and I 
felt promoted a better working together.  Maybe we need to repeat that from time to time 
to update on developments / trends etc. which would be useful but just to maintain that face 
to face connection. This meeting would also give an opportunity to share solutions for joint 
issues.

Any other comment?  There are several members of the CCiN with whom I have very strong 
relationships.  I assume this is down to opportunity and would like to think that every CCiN 
Social worker would react the same in the similar situation.  Therefore, I will not name 
names, but it has been really a great working experience. 
If wanted, I could easily provide examples of good working practice, where small actions 
amounted to a bigger success (or did not, being totally honest, but at least we all tried)

Page 64



Mrs Adele Brown, Assistant Head Teacher, River Tyne Academy Gateshead

Can you please provide a brief summary of how you have experienced working with the 
team?

What worked well: 

At first I was slightly frustrated by the progress we made as a team – I was very concerned 
about the child we were working with and I felt that action wasn’t being made fast enough. 
However, within the last 4 months, I have found that the action and planning has become 
really robust. I feel that the level of concern around the child has been appropriate and that 
there is a real effort from all parties to try and achieve the best outcomes – we are making 
small but measurable progress steps now. 

What you think has worked well? 

4 week meetings to keep contact regular. Myself and Nicole have kept in regular contact 
which has really helped to ensure we keep the student safe. 

What do you think we could improve?

I think we need the rapid action that we have had in recent months initially for every case to 
try and make progress quicker. 

Section 17: CCiN team feedback:

17.1 It is recognised in the reclaiming social work evaluation that training the social 
workers in systemic practice was crucial to the success of the team, they reported 
higher success when teams fully utilised the unit model. 

17.2 In the CCiN team we were fortunate to recruit 2 social workers who had been trained 
systemically. 

17.3 However, obtaining feedback for this evaluation the Social Workers who were 
trained systemically were of the view that they were unable to deliver systemically 
planned intervention as the cases within the team were regularly in crisis, especially 
the teenagers and the focus moved to sustaining engagement with the young person 
as opposed to systemically supporting the family to change. 

17.4 The remaining social workers who weren’t trained systemically reported feeling 
deskilled and their practice being inferior to those who were trained, despite the 
teams attempt to embrace the model. 

Page 65



17.5 One rapid response social worker came from Barnardo’s so was very experienced in 
delivering interventions and it was reported from social workers who had 
predominantly trained and practiced in the ‘process / referral out’ culture that they 
felt deskilled in comparison.

17.6 From the outset the team has been asked to commit to the weekly unit meeting, 
however it has been evident that through the initial 6 months the commitment to 
this has been inconsistent and where unit meetings have been held it hasn’t ran true 
to the model. 

17.7 In the reclaiming social work evaluation, they defined for a unit meeting to be 
assessed as systemic, the following 8 features were recorded: 

 family relationships were set within the wider social context 
 genograms were used to understand patterns of family relationships 
 discussion was curious and reflective: for example, open to different ways of 

thinking about the family 
 generation of different hypotheses and/or evidence of challenging established 

theories about the family 
 development of hypotheses into clear and actionable conversations with 

families 
 discussion was collaborative and involved all group members, although it was 

recognised that the unit coordinator may not always fully contribute 
 child and family were present within the conversation 
 there was clarity around potential risks to the child or children

17.8 It was felt by the team that when these were present the unit meeting was very 
productive and drove intervention with the family. The main area that was 
frequently missing was the ‘development of the hypothesis into clear and actionable 
conversations with families’. 

17.9 It is acknowledged that the unit meeting has been used to predominantly determine 
if the case was suitable for the team so the focus hasn’t been on the actionable 
conversations with families. 

17.10 The Business Support Manager has identified that his role is fundamental in ensuring 
the Complex Child in Need/Rapid Response Team are freed up from the day to day 
bureaucracy of the safeguarding framework to be able to work intensively with 
children and families.

17.11 Reflecting on his experience of working in safeguarding for X years, the business 
support manager is clear that his role is unique and through this allows the practice 
within the team to bring a fresh approach to working with children and families. 

17.12 Feedback from the team echo that this role supports them to achieve their outcomes 
with families. 

Page 66



17.13 Without doubt all of the staff recruited to the CCiN and RR team are very 
experienced and confident workers. All of them are committed to the ethos of the 
team and want to develop their skills to work systemically enabling families to 
change.

Section 18: Challenges:

18.1 The demands and complexity of the young people we are working with has taken 
precedence over planned intervention. However, evidence through the case studies 
shows building a trusting relationship with the young person has been critical to 
engagement and enabling change. 
 

18.2 Hence, the challenge to the team has been managing the emotional impact of 
working intensively with teenagers with presenting complexities. Whilst a few staff 
had experience working with a similar cohort of young people there was greater 
number of social workers who hadn’t worked so intensively with families. The impact 
of the crisis led work and demands from the young people and families had an 
impact upon the emotions of social workers. This in turn led to an unforeseen 
emotional demand on both the practice supervisor and senior practice supervisor. 

18.3 To address this, we have reviewed the practice within the team, we recognised that 
potentially as a team we were too willing and available and in turn set unrealistic 
expectations of the team. The unintended consequence of this was disharmony 
between teams when we couldn’t pick up cases or the team was at capacity. 

18.4 We also believe the team was potentially too optimistic in terms of expectations on 
families to overcome their issues and in fact we agreed to work with cases that were 
beyond the team remit. 

18.5 The impact of not achieving this was significant and ultimately assisted with the 
team coming together to review practice and support each other in redefining 
purpose and align closer to the model. 

18.6 We also reviewed the level of risk on a case by case basis and determined if the 
family were receiving the correct support, both from the team and also key partners. 
This has led to a clearer message to the young person and family about what they 
can expect from the intervention. 

18.7 Equally we have also been able to ensure we are more flexible by evaluating the 
impact of the intervention and look at reducing the intensity as things settle, to 
reinforce the focus is to enable young people and families to build their resilience.  

18.8 A further challenge to the team has been getting the focus of the intervention right 
and in particular direct intervention with parents to enable them to address the 
challenges they face to parent effectively. 

Page 67



18.9 The demands from the young people has led the focus to be on them and the worker 
taking over the parenting role. This leads to risk of the social worker resolving the 
problem rather than enabling the parent (s) to do this or by focusing on the child we 
are then reinforcing that the problem is the child. It is recognised that the unit 
meeting will provide the forum to explore if the social worker is becoming part of the 
solution  

Section 19: Roles and responsibilities:

19.1 The role of the Rapid Response SW has been work in progress for the team.  There 
has been a challenge to establish clear boundaries of the role and how they work 
alongside the statutory social worker preventing duplication of work. Through 
reflecting on different case experience, we have been able to define a model of 
working that requires tight clear communication between the workers in the team, 
to define what the plan is with the family and who will do what. The more intensive 
the intervention the greater the need for regular communication and case reviews. 
We have established that the RR SW is responsible for undertaking social work 
intervention with the family outside of office hours.  

19.2 When the team was established it was also recognised that the RR SW could be 
available to support R&A and SGCP and these pieces of work have been varied. At 
one point there was a concern that the RR SW was being requested to complete 
work outside their remit such as unannounced visits on weekends to see if the father 
was at the home, or visit to gather information for an assessment as the father 
worked away. Whilst initially, in an attempt to support our colleagues, we undertook 
these requests, the increased demand meant we had to be firm about our criteria 
and purpose of the intervention had to be in line with the teams focus of preventing 
LAC.  

19.3 Area of challenge for Rapid Response and potentially across the team is experience 
and knowledge of programmes of intervention to deliver to families, this is an area 
of development. 

19.4 A further challenge for rapid response is the title of the team, the concern is the title 
does not fully reflect the role and may suggest to families and colleagues a more 
crisis response role as opposed to planned social work intervention with families. I 
also understand that there is a team in adult services titled rapid response that deals 
with older persons that provides domiciliary care. 

Page 68



Section 20: Summary:

20.1 In summary I would conclude that the team has been on a journey that has provided 
opportunities and experiences to establish a baseline of practice that can be built on 
going forward.

20.2 Overall, without doubt the model of work and the intensity of intervention given to 
families has shown to be effective. This is evidenced through the feedback from 
young people and families.

20.3 It is also recognised that the effectiveness of the intervention delivered will be 
enhanced further once all the team are trained systemically.

20.4 Roles and responsibilities are now informed by a clear model of practice that is 
underpinned by regular case discussions with the relevant workers.

20.5 The importance of attendance at the unit meeting and the adhering to the agenda 
with a focus on the development of a hypotheses into clear and actionable 
conversations with families has also been reinforced and is embedded.   

20.6 We have built effective working relationships with key partners and this is evidenced 
in the feedback we have received. However, we recognise this is an area of ongoing 
development and we need to establish close working relationships with other 
partners such as the police and health (0-19yrs) to specifically help us address the 
needs of the young people and families we are working with. 

20.7 We are continuing to review procedures, with a focus on getting the paperwork right 
for the team, this is in conjunction with Carefirst.

20.8 In terms of performance, as stated above we recognise we need to be able to 
measure performance related to teenagers and we are taking this forward with the 
performance team. 

20.9 We recognise that the biggest challenge both within the team and also from external 
monitoring is the safeguarding framework which the team is currently operating. 

20.10 It is recognised that nationally addressing the safeguarding needs of teenagers is a 
challenge, especially when parents are doing everything expected of them. We 
currently manage a few critical cases that could be deemed as child protection but in 
each of those cases we have discussed the concerns with partners and had 
consensus that it is the plan that will protect the young people and not what we call 
it. Despite this we do acknowledge that we do have a national safeguarding 
framework and will be challenged on such decisions.

20.11 Very timely I attended a workshop entitled ‘Contextual safeguarding’ supported by 
Frontline.

Page 69



20.12 The presentation was delivered by Jenny Lloyd who is a researcher at Bedfordshire 
University and the presentation was based on a paper compiled by Carlene Firmin, 
Lead Researcher November 2017.

20.13 The presentation outlined the development of Contextual Safeguarding, it has been 
developed at the University of Bedfordshire over the past six years to inform policy 
and practice approaches to safeguarding adolescents. Initially emerging from a 
three-year review of operational responses to peer-on-peer abuse, Contextual 
Safeguarding provides a framework to advance child protection and safeguarding 
responses to a range of extra-familial risks that compromise the safety and welfare 
of young people.

20.14 It is recognised that the current child protection system, and the legislative and 
policy framework which underpins it, was designed to protect children and young 
people from risks posed by their families and/or situations where families had 
reduced capacity to safeguard those in their care.

20.15 Traditional safeguarding practice would intervene with families to increase their 
capacity to safeguard young people from harm or relocate them away from harmful 
contexts. 

20.16 This doesn’t consider that as young people develop they spend less time at home 
and more time in the community with their peers. At this stage of development, it is 
recognised that generally the influence over teenagers shifts from their parents to 
their peers. 

20.17 Contextual Safeguarding considers the importance of extra-familial risks for teens 
and acknowledges that when young people are exposed to violence or exploitation 
in their school, community or peer group this may fracture their family relationships 
and undermine the capacity of their parents/carers to keep them safe. Yet the 
current safeguarding framework continues to target parents to keep young people 
safe. 

20.18 It recognises that the existing safeguarding framework is based on protecting 
children in families and doesn’t extend to protecting teenagers in the community 
with their peers. 

20.19 From 2013-2017, the emerging Contextual Safeguarding framework was applied to 
develop local responses to peer-on-peer abuse with 14 multi-agency safeguarding 
partnerships across England.

20.20 This research reflects the challenges that we are experiencing in the complex child in 
need team, it also reinforced that the work we are undertaking the drive to work 
closer with our partners with young people in their communities is the framework 
that should be developed to safeguard teenagers. 

Page 70



20.21 The report concludes a safeguarding framework would be contextual if it had the 
following 4 domains:

1. Was designed to identify, assess and intervene with the social conditions of 
abuse (i.e. targeted the nature of the contexts in which abuse occurred rather 
than just the individuals affected by it)

2. Drew extra-familial contexts into child protection and safeguarding processes 
(which were traditionally focused on families)

3. Built partnerships with sectors and individuals who managed extra-familial 
settings where young people spent their time (such as those responsible for 
the management of schools, transport services, shopping centres, libraries, 
take-away shops)

4. Measured its impact in relation to a change in the nature of the contexts where 
young people were vulnerable to abuse or harm (rather than just focusing on a 
change in the behaviour of individuals who continued to spend time in harmful 
spaces).

20.22 These four domains provide the foundations for a systemic change in the way that 
services describe, and respond to, abuse in adolescence.

20.23 A Contextual Safeguarding system supports the development of approaches which 
disrupt/change harmful extra-familial contexts rather than move families/young 
people away from them. 

20.24 While parents/carers are not in a position to change the nature of extra-familial 
contexts those who manage or deliver services in these spaces are; and they 
therefore become critical partners in the safeguarding agenda. This approach would 
extend the concept of ‘capacity to safeguard’ beyond families to those individuals 
and sectors who manage extra-familial settings in which young people encounter 
risk.

20.25 This is an area that I propose we explore further, I have contacted Jenny Lloyd with 
the view of discussing how we can use the support of Bedfordshire University to 
develop the model in Gateshead that safeguards teenagers. 

Page 71



Section 21: Recommendations:

- Training in systemic practice a priority – this was highlighted as a requirement to the 
success of the RSW model 

- Commitment to the ‘unit model’ and ensuring the integrity of it is maintained: allows 
for practice planning such as planning conversations trying them out safely with the 
team – also a requirement to the success RSW model 

- Develop leaflets to set out the purpose of the team for young people and families 
and professionals.

- Expectations of the team: ‘edge of care’ would this define the team better as 
opposed to complex child in need, with the focus on children on the edge of care on 
a cin plan. 

- Continue to work with partners and establish close working relationships with those 
linked to the needs of the young people and families we work with. 

- Explore further Contextual Safeguarding with Bedfordshire University to help 
Gateshead develop the underlying principles of the complex child in need team.

- Roles and responsibilities in the team: improve communication between the workers 
in the team to coordinate the intervention

- Develop performance framework that captures the needs of adolescents.

- Consider removing the ‘Rapid Response’ title and call them all Social Workers who 
work out of hours. 

Page 72



             

TITLE OF REPORT: Annual Work Programme

REPORT OF: Sheena Ramsey, Chief Executive 
Mike Barker, Strategic Director, Corporate Services and 
Governance

Summary

The report sets out the provisional work programme for Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for the municipal year 2018/19.

1. The Committee’s provisional work programme was endorsed at the meeting held on 19 
April 2018 and Councillors have agreed that further reports will be brought to future 
meetings to highlight current issues / identify any changes/additions to this programme. 

2. Appendix 1 sets out the work programme as it currently stands. Any changes proposed 
to the programme will be set out in bold and italics for ease of identification.   

Recommendations 

3.  The Committee is asked to

a) Note the provisional programme; 

b) Note that further reports on the work programme will be brought to the Committee 
to identify any additional policy issues, which the Committee may be asked to 
consider.

Contact: Angela Frisby Extension: 2138

FAMILIES 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

13 September 2018

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Families OSC 2018-19
14 June 18  Constitution (to note)

 Role and remit (to note)
 The Council Plan – Year End Assessment and Performance 

Delivery 2017-18
 Review of Obesity (across the life course) - Scoping report
 How Adult and Children’s Services are working Together – 

Progress Update.
 Ofsted Inspection – Outcome and Next Steps
 Work Programme

13 Sept 18  OSC Review of Obesity (across the life course) - Evidence 
Gathering

 Annual Report on Complaints and Representations – Children
 Ofsted Inspections/School Data – Progress Update
 Monitoring – OSC Review of Children on the Edge of Care
 Safeguarding Children - LSCB Annual Report and Plans
 Work Programme

18 Oct 18  Safeguarding Children – LSCB Annual Report and Plans Early 
Help – Progress Update

 Tackling the Toxic Trio (domestic abuse/substance misuse and 
neglect) – Case Study

 School Exclusions – Performance Update
 YOT Performance Update
 Work Programme

6 Nov 18 
*Additional Meeting

 CAMHS Progress Update
 Work Programme

6 Dec 18  OSC Review of Obesity (across the life course) – Evidence 
Gathering

 The Council Plan – Six Monthly Assessment and Performance 
Delivery 2018-19

 Poverty Proofing Schools 
 Recruitment & Retention of Social Workers – Progress 

Update
 Work Programme

31 Jan 19  OSC Review of Obesity (across the life course) – Evidence 
Gathering

 Ofsted – Annual Report
 Secondary Academies Performance – Progress Update
 Promoting the Independence of children and young people 

with SEN/learning disabilities – Progress Update (with a focus 
on how needs are being met; SEN progression and Home to 
School Transport)

 Work Programme
7 March 19  OSC Review of Obesity (across the life course) – Interim 

Report
 Annual Conversation with Head Teachers of Special Schools
 School Exclusions – Performance Update
 Best Start in Life – Outcome of Pilot Self- Assessment 

APPENDIX 1

Page 75



(highlighted in 2017-18 and deferred to 2018-19 work 
programme).

 Progress update – Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder
 Work Programme

4 April 19  OSC Review of Obesity (across the life course) – Final Report
 Liaison with Gateshead Youth Assembly
 Monitoring - OSC Review of Children on the Edge of Care
 Early Help – Progress Update
 LSCB Emerging Priorities
 OSC Work Programme Review 

Issues to slot in: None as of 5 September 2018

Page 76


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of last meeting
	3 Review of Obesity (across the life course) - Evidence Gathering
	4 Annual Report on Complaints and Representations - Children
	AR - C&F - Annual Report on Complaints & Representations - 2017 - 2018

	5 Ofsted Inspections / School Data - Progress Update
	6 Monitoring Report - OSC Review of Children on the Edge of Care
	Complex Child in Need and Rapid Response Full Evaluation Report

	7 Work Programme
	APPENDIX 1 - Families OSC 18-19 Work Progv2


